
 

 

Agenda - Legislation, Justice and Constitution 

Committee 
Meeting Venue: 

Virtual – Video conference via Zoom 

Meeting date: 6 November 2023 

Meeting time: 13.30

For further information contact: 

P Gareth Williams 

Committee Clerk 

0300 200 6565  

SeneddLJC@senedd.wales
------ 

1 Introductions, apologies, substitutions and declarations of 

interest 

(13.30)   

 

2 Instruments that raise no reporting issues under Standing Order 

21.2 or 21.3 

(13.30 - 13.35) (Pages 1 - 2)  

Attached Documents:  

LJC(6)-30-23 - Paper 1 - Draft report 

Made Negative Resolution Instruments 

2.1 SL(6)394 - The Council Tax (Alteration of Lists and Appeals) (Amendment) 

(Wales) Regulations 2023 

   

 

Affirmative Resolution Instruments 

2.2 SL(6)400 - The Renting Homes (Wales) Act 2016 and Homelessness 

(Suitability of Accommodation) (Wales) Order 2015 (Amendment) Regulations 

2023 

   

 

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



 

 

3 Instruments that raise issues to be reported to the Senedd under 

Standing Order 21.2 or 21.3 

(13.35 - 13.40)   

 

Made Negative Resolution Instruments 

3.1 SL(6)393 - The Forestry (Felling of Trees) (Amendment) (Wales) Regulations 

2023  

 (Pages 3 - 6) 

Regulations 

Explanatory Memorandum 

Attached Documents:  

LJC(6)-30-23 - Paper 2 - Draft report 

Affirmative Resolution Instruments 

3.2 SL(6)396 - The Vehicle Emissions Trading Schemes Order 2023  

 (Pages 7 - 9) 

Order 

Explanatory Memorandum 

Attached Documents:  

LJC(6)-30-23 - Paper 3 - Draft report 

3.3 SL(6)397 - The Building Safety (Description of Higher-Risk Building) (Design 

and Construction Phase) (Wales) Regulations 2023  

 (Pages 10 - 11) 

Regulations 

Explanatory Memorandum 

Attached Documents:  

LJC(6)-30-23 - Paper 4 - Draft report 

4 Instruments that raise issues to be reported to the Senedd under 

Standing Order 21.2 or 21.3 - previously considered 

(13.40 - 13.45)   

 

https://senedd.wales/media/o30dlh4u/sub-ld16076-e.pdf
https://senedd.wales/media/cvnplfel/sub-ld16076-em-e.pdf
https://senedd.wales/media/xr1ng4bc/sub-ld16085-e.pdf
https://senedd.wales/media/niqbov0i/sub-ld16085-em-e.pdf
https://senedd.wales/media/dogkamjv/sub-ld16087-e.pdf
https://senedd.wales/media/v2goegfl/sub-ld16087-em-e.pdf


 

 

4.1 SL(6)388 - The National Health Service (Ophthalmic Services) (Wales) 

Regulations 2023 

 (Pages 12 - 22)  

Attached Documents:  

LJC(6)-30-23 - Paper 5 - Report 

LJC(6)-30-23 - Paper 6 - Welsh Government response 

4.2 SL(6)392 - The Water Resources (Control of Agricultural Pollution) (Wales) 

(Amendment) (No. 2) Regulations 2023 

 (Pages 23 - 25)  

Attached Documents:  

LJC(6)-30-23 - Paper 7 - Report 

LJC(6)-30-23 - Paper 8 - Welsh Government response 

5 Inter-Institutional Relations Agreement 

(13.45 - 13.50)   

 

5.1 Written Statement and correspondence from the Minister for Rural Affairs and 

North Wales, and Trefnydd: The Plant Protection Products (Miscellaneous 

Amendments) Regulations 2023 

 (Pages 26 - 29)  

Attached Documents:  

LJC(6)-30-23 - Paper 9 - Written Statement by the Minister for Rural Affairs 

and North Wales, and Trefnydd, 24 October 2023 

LJC(6)-30-23 - Paper 10 - Letter from the Minister for Rural Affairs and 

North Wales, and Trefnydd, 24 October 2023 

5.2 Correspondence from the Counsel General and Minister for the Constitution: 

Postponement of the Inter-Ministerial Group for Elections and Registration 

 (Page 30)  

Attached Documents:  

LJC(6)-30-23 - Paper 11 - Letter from the Counsel General and Minister for 

the Constitution, 24 October 2023 



 

 

5.3 Written Statement by the Minister for Finance and Local Government: The 

Public Procurement (Agreement on Government Procurement) (Thresholds) 

(Amendment) Regulations 2023 

 (Pages 31 - 32)  

Attached Documents:  

LJC(6)-30-23 - Paper 12 - Written Statement by the Minister for Finance and 

Local Government, 27 October 2023 

5.4 Written Statement and correspondence from the Minister for Rural Affairs and 

North Wales, and Trefnydd: The Official Controls (Plant Health) (Prior 

Notification) and Phytosanitary Conditions (Amendment) Regulations 2023 

 (Pages 33 - 36)  

Attached Documents:  

LJC(6)-30-23 - Paper 13 - Written Statement by the Minister for Rural Affairs 

and North Wales, and Trefnydd, 30 October 2023 

LJC(6)-30-23 - Paper 14 - Letter from the Minister for Rural Affairs and 

North Wales, and Trefnydd, 30 October 2023 

6 Papers to note 

(13.50 - 13.55)   

 

6.1 Correspondence with the First Minister of Wales: the Protocol amending the 

International Convention on the Conservation of Atlantic Tunas (the Palma 

Protocol) 

 (Pages 37 - 40)  

Attached Documents:  

LJC(6)-30-23 - Paper 15 - Letter from the First Minister of Wales, 23 October 

2023 

LJC(6)-30-23 - Paper 16 - Letter to the First Minister of Wales, 29 September 

2023 



 

 

6.2 Correspondence from the Minister for Climate Change: Residential lettings 

practices 

 (Page 41)  

Attached Documents:  

LJC(6)-30-23 - Paper 17 - Letter from the Minister for Climate Change, 25 

October 2023 

6.3 Written Statement by the Counsel General and Minister for the Constitution: 

The progress of the Independent Commission on the Constitutional Future of 

Wales 

 (Page 42)  

Attached Documents:  

LJC(6)-30-23 - Paper 18 - Written Statement by the Counsel General and 

Minister for the Constitution, 26 October 2023 

6.4 Correspondence from the Counsel General and Minister for the Constitution: 

The future of Welsh law: A programme for 2021 to 2026 - Annual Report 

2022-23 

 (Pages 43 - 81)  

Attached Documents:  

LJC(6)-30-23 - Paper 19 - Letter from the Counsel General and Minister for 

the Constitution, 1 November 2023 

7 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the 

public from the remainder of the meeting 

(13.55)   

 

8 Infrastructure (Wales) Bill: Draft report 

(13.55 - 14.30) (To Follow)  

Attached Documents:  

LJC(6)-30-23 - Paper 20 - Draft report 



 

 

9 Legislative Consent Memorandum on the Economic Activity of 

Public Bodies (Overseas Matters) Bill 

(14.30 – 14.45) (Pages 82 - 101)  

Attached Documents:  

LJC(6)-30-23 - Paper 21 - Legal Advice Note 

LJC(6)-30-23 - Paper 22 - Letter from the Minister for Finance and Local 

Government to the Chair of the Public Accounts and Public Administration 

Committee, 1 November 2023 

LJC(6)-30-23 - Paper 23 - Letter to the Minister for Finance and Local 

Government from the Chair of the Public Accounts and Public Administration 

Committee, 16 October 2023 

10 UK - EU Governance inquiry: Consideration of draft report 

(14.45 – 15.10) (To Follow)  

Attached Documents:  

LJC(6)-30-23 - Paper 24 - Draft report 

11 Subordinate legislation laid in English only: Consideration of 

discussion paper 

(15.10 – 15.25) (To Follow)  

Attached Documents:  

LJC(6)-30-23 - Paper 25 - Discussion paper 

12 Annual Report 

(15.25 – 15.40) (To Follow)  

Attached Documents:  

LJC(6)-30-23 - Paper 26 - Draft report 



 

 

Statutory Instruments with Clear Reports 

06 November 2023 

SL(6)394 – The Council Tax (Alteration of Lists and Appeals) 

(Amendment) (Wales) Regulations 2023 

Procedure: Made Negative 

 

These Regulations amend the Council Tax (Alteration of Lists and Appeals) Regulations 1993 

(“the 1993 Regulations”). 

 

The 1993 Regulations set out the circumstances in which a valuation list can be altered. 

Regulation 14 of those Regulations specifies the day from which an alteration has effect. 

 

These Regulations amend the day from which an alteration has effect when the list is altered 

due to a material increase in the value of a property, and where a dwelling should be treated 

as two or more dwellings pursuant to the Council Tax (Chargeable Dwellings) Order 1992. In 

both circumstances these Regulations specify the day as the day on which the alteration is 

entered in the list. 

 

The Explanatory Memorandum to these Regulations, at paragraph 4.1, notes that these 

amendments, 

 

“…protect taxpayers from backdated liability for council tax arising from administrative 

delay in the process of valuation band alterations”. 

 

Parent Act: Council Tax (Alteration of Lists and Appeals) Regulations 1993  

Date Made: 11 October 2023 

Date Laid: 13 October 2023 

Coming into force date: 08 November 2023 

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 2

https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=42089
https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=42089


 

 

Statutory Instruments with Clear Reports 

06 November 2023 

SL(6)400 – The Renting Homes (Wales) Act 2016 and 

Homelessness (Suitability of Accommodation) (Wales) 

Order 2015 (Amendment) Regulations 2023 

Procedure: Affirmative 

 

These Regulations make a number of amendments to the Renting Homes (Wales) Act 2016 

and the Homelessness (Suitability of Accommodation) (Wales) Order 2015, in particular: 

(i) amending Schedule 2 to the Renting Homes (Wales) Act 2016 by adding “private 

sector temporary homelessness accommodation” (defined in these Regulations) 

to the list of tenancies and licenses that are never occupation contracts; and 

 

(ii) amending the definition of “B&B accommodation” in Article 2 of the 

Homelessness (Suitability of Accommodation) (Wales) Order 2015.   

The intended effect of the legislation is to ensure that people who are homeless and to 

whom the local authority has a duty to provide support and accommodation, can continue 

to be accommodated in B&B accommodation without an occupation contract arising. 

Parent Act: Renting Homes (Wales) Act 201  

Date Made:  

Date Laid:  

Coming into force date: 30 November 2023 

 

Pack Page 2

https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=42146
https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=42146
https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=42146


   
 

 

SL(6)393 – The Forestry (Felling of Trees) 

(Amendment) (Wales) Regulations 2023 

Background and Purpose 

These Regulations make amendments to the Forestry (Felling of Trees) Regulations 1979 

(“the 1979 Regulations”), to provide for procedural matters arising from new sections 

inserted into the Forestry Act 1967 (“the 1967 Act”) by the Agriculture (Wales) Act 2023. The 

amendments set out prescribed periods relating to tree preservation orders and 

compensation claims, and prescribed periods and the manner of appeal for appeals relating 

to felling licences. 

Procedure 

Negative. 

The Regulations were made by the Welsh Ministers before they were laid before the Senedd.  

The Senedd can annul the Regulations within 40 days (excluding any days when the Senedd 

is: (i) dissolved, or (ii) in recess for more than four days) of the date they were laid before the 

Senedd.  

Technical Scrutiny 

The following nine points are identified for reporting under Standing Order 21.2 in respect of 

this instrument. 

1. Standing Order 21.2(vi) – that its drafting appears to be defective or it fails to fulfil 

statutory requirements. 

In regulation 1(4), the Forestry Act 1967 is defined as “the Act” in these Regulations, however 

the term “the Act” is not subsequently used in the body of the Regulations. The term is only 

used in the textual amendments that are inserted into the 1979 Regulations by these 

Regulations, but “the Act” is already defined in the 1979 Regulations and therefore does not 

need to be defined in these Regulations. 

2. Standing Order 21.2(vi) – that its drafting appears to be defective or it fails to fulfil 

statutory requirements. 

Regulations 4 and 7 insert new provisions into the 1979 Regulations. The headings of the 

new provisions make reference to section numbers of the 1969 Act, but do not then go on to 

include the words “of the Act”. Although the meaning may be inferred from the remainder of 

the provisions to be inserted into the 1979 Regulations, the new headings are inconsistent 

with the remainder of similar provisions in the 1979 Regulations and do not assist the reader 

of the Regulations.  

Pack Page 3

Agenda Item 3.1

https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=42088
https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=42088


   
 

 

Similarly, the headings preceding regulations 5 and 7 make reference to sections but do not 

refer to the Act which they are from. The heading preceding regulation 5 also refers to the 

NRBW which is not defined for the purpose of these Regulations. 

3. Standing Order 21.2(vi) – that its drafting appears to be defective or it fails to fulfil 

statutory requirements. 

Regulations 5 and 7 insert new regulations 14A and 15A respectively into the 1979 

Regulations. Throughout these new regulations reference is made to sections, but on the 

majority of the occasions when this occurs it is not specified what Act these sections are 

from. The references to sections should be followed by “of the Act” on each occasion in the 

new regulations 14A and 15A to ensure clarity and consistency with the remainder of the 

1979 Regulations. 

4. Standing Order 21.2(vi) – that its drafting appears to be defective or it fails to fulfil 

statutory requirements. 

In the new regulation 15A to be inserted into the 1979 Regulations by regulation 7, several 

references are made to section numbers, but the word “section” is missing on numerous 

occasions.  

5. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation. 

In the new regulation 14A(2), to be inserted into the 1979 Regulations by regulation 5, the 

word “shall” is used. “Shall” is ambiguous because it can be used to refer to the future, to 

impose obligations, or in a declaratory sense. Although it could be used to maintain 

consistency of terminology with the rest of the 1979 Regulations, similar wording in the new 

regulation 14A(1) uses the word “must”, which provides greater clarity for the reader.  

Similarly, in the new regulation 15A(2) and (3) which is inserted by regulation 7, there are 

declaratory statements that “the prescribed period for claiming expenses reasonably 

incurred…. will be eighteen months”. However, by contrast, in the new regulations 4A(1), 

13A(1) and 15A(4), the wording states that “the prescribed period is…” which provides 

greater clarity. Therefore, the use of “will be” in the drafting of the new regulation 15A(2) and 

(3) lacks clarity and is also inconsistent with the approach to the other textual amendments 

when prescribing periods of time. 

6. Standing Order 21.2(vi) – that its drafting appears to be defective or it fails to fulfil 

statutory requirements. 

In the new regulation 14A(2) and (3), and regulation 15A(2) inserted by regulations 5 and 7 

respectively, there are periods of time that are described as “beginning on the day”. 

However, the Welsh Government’s drafting guidelines, Writing Laws for Wales, state that 

periods of time should not be described as “beginning on” because it can create doubt as to 

the exact time on the day when the period of time begins. The guidelines recommend 

describing periods of time as “beginning with the day”. Therefore, the drafting of these 

Pack Page 4



   
 

 

textual amendments does not follow the Welsh Government’s own drafting guidelines when 

describing the beginning of periods of time. 

7. Standing Order 21.2(vi) – that its drafting appears to be defective or it fails to fulfil 

statutory requirements. 

In paragraph 5b of the new Form 1A set out in Schedule 1 to the Regulations, reference is 

made to “regulation 15A(4)”, however no information is given as to what regulations are 

being referred to. Although Form 1A will be found in the 1979 Regulations, in practice it will 

be used by people in isolation, not as part of the 1979 Regulations, and therefore the user 

will have no reference point to determine what “regulation 15A(4)” says. 

It should also be noted that no definition is given in the forms for “the Act” or “the NRBW”, 

which again, due to the manner in which these forms will be used in practice, may make 

matters confusing for the reader and is inconsistent with the approach taken in the existing 

forms in the 1979 Regulations. 

There are also incomplete references in both Form 1A and Form 9A, where sections numbers 

are cited but are not followed by any reference to an Act. This is inconsistent with the 

wording of the existing forms in the Schedules to the 1979 Regulations and lacks clarity for 

the reader. 

8. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation. 

In the new Form 1A, it does not appear to be possible for both paragraphs 6 and 7 to apply 

at the same time, as paragraph 6 seeks confirmation that no other notice has been given yet 

paragraph 7 asks for details of other notices that have been given. It appears that these 

paragraphs should have been drafted as alternatives and the user be invited to delete as 

appropriate, as is the case in other parts of the form. 

9. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation. 

In the new Form 9A, in paragraph 1, the appellant is required to enter the relevant section 

number of the notice where it states “under Section…. [enter section here] of the Forestry Act 

1967.” However, in paragraph 4 of the same Form and in paragraph 1 of the new Form 1A, 

the different section numbers are listed for the user to delete as appropriate which seems to 

make the form easier to complete. Therefore, this requires clarification as to why paragraph 1 

has been drafted in a different way from those other provisions and which makes it more 

difficult for the claimant to complete the form. 

Merits Scrutiny  

No points are identified for reporting under Standing Order 21.3 in respect of this instrument. 

 

Pack Page 5



   
 

 

Welsh Government response 

A Welsh Government response is required. 

Legal Advisers 

Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee 

26 October 2023 

 

 

Pack Page 6



   
 

 

SL(6)396 – The Vehicle Emissions Trading Schemes 

Order 2023 

Background and Purpose 

The Vehicle Emissions Trading Schemes Order (“the Order”) establishes Great Britain wide 

trading schemes. 

The Order consists of four trading schemes which will operate by limiting both the numbers 

of new non-zero emission vehicles (“non-ZEVs”) which may be registered in Great Britain, 

and the CO2 emissions from such vehicles, as part of the transition to zero emission vehicles 

(“ZEVs”). This policy framework will replace the UK’s existing New Car and Van CO2 Emissions 

Regulation, which will cease in Great Britain with the commencement of this Order but will 

be preserved in Northern Ireland for the time being. 

The Explanatory Note accompanying the Order provides that the trading schemes will limit, 

or encourage the limitation of, CO2 emissions resulting from the registration of new cars and 

vans, and this purpose is also reflected in article 4(2) of the Order. The Explanatory 

Memorandum provides that the Order will contribute to Wales’s and the United Kingdom’s 

emissions reduction targets and Net Zero goal. 

Procedure 

Draft Affirmative. 

A draft of the Order has been laid before Senedd Cymru, the United Kingdom Parliament, 

and the Scottish Parliament. The draft must be approved by each of those legislatures before 

it can be made by His Majesty. 

Technical Scrutiny 

The following 5 points are identified for reporting under Standing Order 21.2 in respect of this 

instrument. 

1. Standing Order 21.2(ix) – that it is not made or to be made in both English and Welsh 

The Order has been laid before Senedd Cymru, the United Kingdom Parliament, and the 

Scottish Parliament. The Order has been made in English only. The Welsh Government’s 

Explanatory Memorandum states as follows (at paragraph 2.2): 

“As the Order will be subject to UK Parliamentary scrutiny, it is not considered 

reasonably practicable for this instrument to be made or laid bilingually.” 

2. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

Pack Page 7

Agenda Item 3.2

https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=42107
https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=42107


   
 

 

The term “banked” is defined for the purposes of Chapters 1 and 3 of Part 3 of the Order. 

However, it is also used in article 77(l) and (m) in the context of “banked CRTS allowances” 

and “banked VRTS allowances” respectively. As article 77 is found within Part 4 of the Order, 

the definition of “banked” does not extend to those provisions and the term remains 

undefined for that purpose. In the same way that “CRTS allowance” and “VRTS allowance” are 

defined for the purposes of the Order as a whole in article 3(1), it may have been helpful if 

the definition of “banked” had been extended to Part 4 or to the Order as a whole. 

3. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

The phrase “relevant national authorities” appears in article 96(3) of, and paragraphs 3 and 5 

of Schedule 3 to, the Order. In two of these instances, the phrase is defined within a footnote 

as meaning as defined in section 47 of the Climate Change Act 2008. There does not seem 

an obvious reason for including the definition in footnotes, which are non-operative parts of 

the text, rather than in the body of the Order itself, for example in article 3(1) (interpretation). 

4. Standing Order 21.2(vi) – that its drafting appears to be defective or it fails to fulfil 

statutory requirements 

Article 110(16)(f) omits the phrase “in domestic law or, as the case may be, as that Regulation 

has effect”, in both places it occurs, from point 1.2.4 in Part A of Annex 3 to Regulation (EU) 

2019/631. However, that phrase does not appear in point 1.2.4. It is noted that the phrase “in 

domestic law and as that Regulation has effect” appears in point 1.2.4 on 3 occasions and this 

may have been the phrase intended to be omitted. 

5. Standing Order 21.2(vi) – that its drafting appears to be defective or it fails to fulfil 

statutory requirements 

Article 110(16)(h) substitutes the phrase “light commercial vehicle” with “NI light commercial 

vehicle” in point 2 in Part A of Annex 3 to Regulation (EU) 2019/631. However, the phrase 

“light commercial vehicle” appears on two occasions in point 2 and it is not clear whether 

article 110(6)(h) is intended to substitute one (and, if so, which) or both occurrences. 

Merits Scrutiny  

No points are identified for reporting under Standing Order 21.3 in respect of this instrument. 

Welsh Government response 

A Welsh Government response is required except in relation to point 1. 

 

Legal Advisers 

Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee 

30 October 2023 

 

Pack Page 8



   
 

 

SL(6)397 – The Building Safety (Description of 

Higher-Risk Building) (Design and Construction 

Phase) (Wales) Regulations 2023 

Background and Purpose 

These Regulations define what is meant by a higher-risk building for the purposes of section 

120I of the Building Act 1984 (the 1984 Act), which was inserted into the 1984 Act by Part 3 

of the Building Safety Act 2022. This makes provision for higher-risk buildings to be subject 

to an enhanced regulatory regime during the design and construction phase.  

Regulation 3 defines a higher-risk building as a building that is either at least 18 metres high, 

or has at least 7 storeys, where it always contains at least one residential unit or is a hospital, 

care home or children’s home.  

Regulation 4 makes provision for the measuring of the height of a building. 

Regulation 5 makes provision for the calculation of the number of storeys in a building.  

Regulation 6 provides for exceptions to the definition of higher-risk building. Such buildings 

will not be subject to the enhanced regulatory regime.  

Procedure 

Affirmative. 

The Welsh Ministers have laid a draft of the Regulations before the Senedd. The Welsh 

Ministers cannot make the Regulations unless the Senedd approves the draft Regulations.  

Technical Scrutiny 

The following two points are identified for reporting under Standing Order 21.2 in respect of 

this instrument. 

1. Standing Order 21.2 (v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

In regulation 2, it is unclear why a specific definition of a “dwelling” has been included, and 

why it only makes direct reference to the inclusion of a flat. The definition of a “residential 

unit” is broad, and includes a dwelling or “any other unit of living accommodation…”. A flat 

would likely fall within the ordinary meaning of limb (a) of the definition as a “dwelling” and 

would likely also fall within the very broad definition of (b) “any other unit of living 

accommodation…”. As such, the choice to define “dwelling” as including a flat, and then 

defining “flat” itself as a premises “divided horizontally” may cause confusion to a reader. The 

definitions make it unclear what the status of a maisonette or similar dwelling might be, which 

Pack Page 10

Agenda Item 3.3

https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=42108
https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=42108
https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=42108


   
 

 

spans different floors and may have a vertical and horizontal divisions to accommodate e.g. 

private staircases. Later, the reader finds that a “residential unit” would likely include a 

maisonette in any event. As such, the inclusion of the definition of “dwelling” and “flat” require 

further explanation, as both have known meanings in ordinary language, that the regulations 

do not appear to wish to depart from. The definition of “residentual units” appears to have 

been clearly drafted without the need for these additional supporting definitions.  

2. Standing Order 21.2 (v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

In regulation 2, the definition of “His Majesty’s forces” is given the same meaning as in the 

Armed Forces Act 2006. But the relevant section number where the term can be found in the 

Armed Forces Act 2006 is noted in footnote (3) on page 3. This also occurs in the definition 

of “visiting force” which has the same meaning as it does for the purposes of Part 1 of the 

Visiting Forces Act 1952. But the relevant section number of that Act is noted in footnote (2) 

on page 4. There does not seem an obvious reason for including the relevant section 

numbers in footnotes, which are non-operative parts of the text, rather than in the 

definitions themselves.  

Similarly, the definitions of “care home” and “children’s home” refer to a care home service 

and a secure accommodation service within the meaning given in Part 1 of the Regulation 

and Inspection of Social Care (Wales) Act 2016. But they also fail to identify the specific 

provisions where those terms are defined and given a meaning for the purposes of Part 1 in 

that Act. This also occurs in the definition of “hospital” when referring to an “independent 

hospital” within the meaning the Care Standards Act 2000. Therefore, the reader has to 

search those Acts to discover where the terms are found in them. 

It would be preferable to have the relevant section numbers included in the definition in each 

case, to aid the reader to locate and understand the definitions being used in this instrument.  

Merits Scrutiny  

No points are identified for reporting under Standing Order 21.3 in respect of this instrument. 

Welsh Government response 

A Welsh Government response is required. 

Legal Advisers 

Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee 

27 October 2023 

 

 

Pack Page 11



   
 

 

SL(6)388 – The National Health Service (Ophthalmic 

Services) (Wales) Regulations 2023 

Background and Purpose 

The National Health Service (Ophthalmic Services) (Wales) Regulations 2023 make provision 

for primary ophthalmic services under the National Health Service (“NHS”) in Wales. These 

Regulations supersede, consolidate and revoke previous Regulations in this area.  

These Regulations replicate, in large part, the provisions of the revoked Regulations in 

respect of the arrangements to be made by Local Health Boards for general ophthalmic 

services (sight tests). 

These Regulations also require Local Health Boards to make arrangements for the provision 

of eye examination services under the NHS in Wales. References in these Regulations to 

“primary ophthalmic services” refer to general ophthalmic services and to eye examination 

services.  

Procedure 

Negative 

The Regulations were made by the Welsh Ministers before they were laid before the Senedd.  

The Senedd can annul the Regulations within 40 days (excluding any days when the Senedd 

is: (i) dissolved, or (ii) in recess for more than four days) of the date they were laid before the 

Senedd. 

Technical Scrutiny 

The following 22 points are identified for reporting under Standing Order 21.2 in respect of 

this instrument. 

1. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

In regulation 2, many of the definitions are defined by the meaning given to them in the 

interpretation provisions of other Acts or statutory instruments, or that are found later within 

these Regulations. However, many of these definitions fail to identify precisely where within a 

section or paragraph the definition can be found. This makes it more difficult for the reader 

to easily find the definitions. It also causes problems with defining the meaning of some of 

the terms where the imprecise references failed to distinguish between similar terms or 

concepts found in the cited provisions. This problem regularly occurs throughout the rest of 

these Regulations: 

a. both the definitions of “dispensing optician” and “optometrist” refer to a person 

registered in “the register maintained under section 7 of the Opticians Act 1989” 

Pack Page 12

Agenda Item 4.1

https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=42025
https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=42025


   
 

 

which suggests that there’s a single register. However, it should state “section 

7(b)” and “section 7(a)” respectively as there are separate registers for both 

professions to precisely identify and distinguish between them. For the same 

reason, the words in parentheses are incorrect as they should use the plural noun 

“registers of opticians” as found above section 7 of that Act because there are 2 

registers. 

 

b. both the definitions of “eye examination” and “eye examination services” are 

given the meaning in “regulation 3”. But, it should state “regulation 3(3)(a)” and 

“regulation 3(3)(b)” respectively to identify their location precisely and to 

distinguish between them; 

 

c. both the definitions of “general ophthalmic services” and “primary ophthalmic 

services” are given the meaning in regulation 4. But, it should state that they’re 

found in “regulation 4(a)” and “regulation 4(b)” respectively to identify their 

location precisely and to distinguish between them; 

 

d. the definition of “Health Education and Improvement Wales” states that it means 

“the body established by the Health Education and Improvement Wales 

(Establishment and Constitution) Order 2017”. It would be more precise to 

identify the specific provision in that Order - “established under article 2 of 

the….Order 2017”, as was done in the definition of “First-tier Tribunal”; 

 

e. the definitions of “mobile practice”, “originating events” and “the register ”are all 

given the meaning found in Schedule 3 to these Regulations. Schedule 3 is a 

lengthy Schedule and it could be made clearer that they’re all found in 

“paragraph 18 of Schedule 3”.  

 

f. both the definitions of “ophthalmic list” and “supplementary list” are given the 

meaning found in regulation 10. This could more precisely state “in regulation 

10(2)(a)” and “in regulation 10(2)(b)” respectively to identify their location and to 

distinguish between the different lists. 

 

2. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

In regulation 2, at the end of the definition of “employment”, there is a list of other related 

terms that are to be interpreted according to the meaning of “employment”. However, this 

would appear to be unnecessary as section 9 of the Legislation (Wales) 2019 provides that 

this is the case without any such provision. In addition, the term “employer” is already 

defined separately as a term in regulation 2. There is also another definition of “employee” 

found in paragraph 18(5)(c) of Schedule 4. 

The same issue occurs in paragraph 18(5) of Schedule 4 where  “employ” must be 

interpreted according to the meaning given to “employee”. 

Pack Page 13



   
 

 

 

3. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

In regulation 4(a), the reference to “paragraph 23” fails to identify the precise location where 

it can be found as there’s no Schedule noted in the reference. It appears to be referring to 

paragraph 23 “of Schedule 4” to these Regulations. 

4. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

In regulation 7(4), there is a reference to “paragraph (2)(n) of that Schedule” but it fails to 

identify the specific paragraph in Schedule 1 to these Regulations. Presumably it is referring 

to “paragraph 1(2)(n) of that Schedule” in which case the paragraph number “1” should 

appear in that reference. 

5. Standing Order 21.2(vii) – that there appear to be inconsistencies between the 

meaning of its English and Welsh texts 

In regulation 12, in the Welsh text, in the headings of Chapter 3, regulation 12 and of 

regulation 14, and in the body of regulation 12(3) and (4), and of regulation 28(1)(b) and (7), 

whenever the phrase “inclusion” is used the translation has added the words “the 

practitioner” to complete the grammatical sense and meaning of the sentences.  

The same approach has also been adopted for the translation of “removal” in places such as 

the headings of Chapter 4, regulations 17 and 19, in the body of regulation 17(6) and (10) 

and the headings of Part 5 and of paragraph 12, 13 and 14 in Schedule 3, with the same 

consequence that “practitioner” rather than “qualified practitioner” is used in the Welsh text. 

However, the defined term is “the qualified practitioner” and for that reason should have 

been used in the Welsh text.  

6. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

In regulation 13(5), the provision states that the Local Health Board must consider “the 

factors” set out in paragraph 10 of Schedule 3. However, paragraph 10 of that Schedule 

refers to “the facts” that must be considered although “factors” are referred to in paragraphs 

14 to 17 of Schedule 3. Therefore, the drafting is not consistent with that found in paragraph 

10 of Schedule 3, unless the reference itself is incorrect.  

7. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

Regulation 17(3)(c) refers to the removal of a qualified practitioner from an ophthalmic or 

supplementary list where they have been convicted in the United Kingdom of a criminal 

offence (other than murder), committed on or after 30 July 2002 in the case of an ophthalmic 

list, or on or after 1 February 2006 in the case of a supplementary list. Please could 

Pack Page 14



   
 

 

clarification be provided as to why the inclusion of the specific dates of 30 July 2002 and 1 

February 2006 have been considered necessary? 

8. Standing Order 21.2(vii) – that there appear to be inconsistencies between the 

meaning of its English and Welsh texts. 

In regulation 27(1)(a), the English text refers to “regulation 13” but the Welsh text refers to 

“regulation 15”.  

9. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation. 

Regulation 27(2)(i) requires a local health board to notify the NHS Counter Fraud Authority 

where it makes a decision relating to “a fraud case within the meaning of section 107(3) of 

the [National Health Service (Wales)] Act [2006]”.  

Welsh Government is asked whether this requirement should also apply in relation to a fraud 

case within the meaning of regulation 17(3)(d).   

10. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

In regulation 42, there appears to be a change in terminology throughout the regulation 

where the term “person” is used, rather than the defined term “qualified practitioner” in 

relation to inclusion on a Local Health Board’s ophthalmic list or supplementary list. Both lists 

are defined in regulation 10(2) as only including “qualified practitioners”. The term “qualified 

practitioner” is defined by regulation 2 and other regulations throughout these Regulations 

use that term in relation to those lists, rather than “person”. Clarification is requested as to 

why the term “person” is used in regulation 42, rather than the defined term “qualified 

practitioner”. 

11. Standing Order 21.2(vii) – that there appear to be inconsistencies between the 

meaning of its English and Welsh texts 

In regulation 42(11)(a), the English version of the Regulations reads, “…received an 

application for inclusion in its previous ophthalmic list or previous supplementary list…”. 

However, the Welsh language version of regulation 42(11)(a) has added the word 

“practitioner” to complete the meaning of the same sentence, meaning that there is a 

difference in meaning between the English and Welsh text. In other words, the Welsh text 

appears to be restricted to the inclusion of “practitioners”, whereas the English text does not 

include this restriction. It is also noted that the rest of regulation 42 in the Welsh text uses 

“person”, rather than “practitioner”. An explanation is requested in relation to these apparent 

inconsistencies. 

12. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

Pack Page 15



   
 

 

In Schedule 1, in paragraph 1(2)(c), in the English text, the title of the SI, “the National Health 

Service (Travel Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Wales) Regulations 2007” is incorrect. 

It should be state “Travelling Expenses” rather than “Travel Expenses” in the title of the SI. 

The correct SI reference is provided in paragraph 1(9) of Schedule 1.  

13. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

In Schedule 1, in paragraph 1(7)(b), “family” is given a meaning “in paragraph (g)”. However, 

“family” doesn’t appear to be used in paragraph (g). Therefore, this requires further 

explanation as to whether the reference is incorrect and should be referring to another 

paragraph (possibly paragraph (i)). 

14. Standing Order 21.2(vii) - that there appear to be inconsistencies between the 

meaning of its English and Welsh texts 

In Schedule 2, in paragraph 3(7), there is a difference between the English and Welsh text. In 

the English text, it refers to “the qualifications and experience prescribed by paragraph 1”. 

However, in the Welsh text, the words “and experience” are missing from the translation. 

15. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

In Schedule 2, in paragraph 4, there is a definition of “the health service” for “this Schedule”. 

However, this term is only used on one occasion in the Schedule, in paragraph 1(1)(a)(i). 

Therefore, it should be included in the existing interpretation provision of paragraph 1(3) 

which defines another term for “this paragraph” rather than for the entire Schedule. 

16. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

In Schedule 3, in paragraph 1, the terminology varies between “person” in sub-paragraphs 

(a) to (d), and “qualified practitioner” in sub-paragraphs (e) to (i). Is there a reason for the 

change in terminology or should they use the defined term “qualified practitioner” especially 

when referring to individuals who are included in the ophthalmic list. The same varying of 

terms takes place in paragraph 2 in relation to the supplementary list. 

17. Standing Order 21.2(v) - 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or 

meaning needs further explanation 

In Schedule 3, in paragraph 6(a), it refers to “the information and document, if applicable, 

required by regulation 16.” However, we believe this should state “and certificate” rather 

than “and document” because it is referring to an enhanced criminal record certificate in 

regulation 16(3). 

18. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation. 

Pack Page 16



   
 

 

Paragraph 10(1)(b) of Schedule 3 refers to an “offence, incident, conviction or investigation” 

(emphasis added). Paragraph 10(1)(a), (c), (d) and (e) refer (in various configurations) to an 

“offence, investigation or incident”.  

Welsh Government is asked to explain why the additional word “conviction” is included in 

paragraph 10(1)(b).  The same question arises in relation to paragraph 15(2)(b) of Schedule 3.  

19. Standing Order 21.2(vii) – that there appear to be inconsistencies between the 

meaning of its English and Welsh texts 

In Schedule 4, in paragraph 10(3)(a)(iii), there is a slight difference between the English and 

Welsh text. In the English text, it states “when and as required under paragraph 9(3)” but it 

has been translated as meaning “as required under paragraph 9(3)”. Paragraph 9(3) uses the 

phrase “when required to do so” in both language texts. 

20. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

In Schedule 4, in paragraph 15(1), it states “the information the contractor provided in 

accordance with paragraph 7 of Schedule 3”. Should this state “the declarations” rather 

than “the information” as paragraph 7 of Schedule 3 deals with declarations unless the 

reference itself is incorrect as information is provided in accordance with other paragraphs of 

Schedule 3. 

21. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

In Schedule 4, in paragraph 22(2)(b)(i), the term “the practitioner” is defined, and is used in 

paragraph 22. However, in paragraph 22(3), the term “the qualified practitioner” is used at 

the end of that paragraph. Is this intentional as “qualified practitioner” is also a defined term 

in these Regulations or should it refer to “the practitioner”? 

22. Standing Order 21.2(v) – that for any particular reason its form or meaning needs 

further explanation 

In Schedule 4, in paragraph 27(2)(b), it states that nothing prevents “a body corporate from 

using the name by which it is enrolled in the register maintained under the Opticians Act 

1989”. However, there are several registers maintained under the Opticians Act 1989, and 

“the register” isn’t defined as a term for the purposes of Schedule 4 (only for Schedule 3). 

Therefore, should this provision specify the register and is it referring to the register of 

bodies corporate maintained under section 9 of the Opticians Act 1989 ? If so, should the 

defined term “corporate optician” rather than “body corporate” be used in the provision? 

Merits Scrutiny  

The following points are identified for reporting under Standing Order 21.3 in respect of this 

instrument. 

Pack Page 17



   
 

 

23. Standing Order 21.3(ii) – that it is of political or legal importance or gives rise to 

issues of public policy likely to be of interest to the Senedd 

It is noted that throughout these Regulations, various incorrect references for provision 

divisions and sub-divisions are used. As an example, in paragraph 7(2) of Schedule 6, a 

reference is incorrectly described as “paragraph (b)”, rather than the correct description of 

“sub-paragraph (b)”. The Welsh Government is reminded of the importance of using the 

correct references for divisions and sub-divisions when drafting subordinate legislation. 

Welsh Government response 

A Welsh Government response is required in relation to points 1-22. 

Committee Consideration 

The Committee considered the instrument at its meeting on 16 October 2023 and reports to 

the Senedd in line with the reporting points above. 

 

 

 

Pack Page 18



 

 

Government Response: The National Health Service (Ophthalmic Services) (Wales) 

Regulations 2023 

The Welsh Government notes both the Technical points and the Merits Scrutiny point raised 

and has provided responses in relation to the Technical Scrutiny points below. The Welsh 

Government is grateful to the Senedd Committee for confirming that no response is required 

in relation to the Merits Scrutiny point.  

 

Technical Scrutiny point 1:  

The Welsh Government agrees that, in places, references could be more specific. However, it 

is not considered that these require correction as, in the circumstances, the correct legal 

meaning is clear. 

 

Technical Scrutiny point 2:  

The Welsh Government notes the point made but considers that the definitions of “employ”, 

“employee” and “employment” in regulation 2 and Paragraph 18 of Schedule 4 achieve the 

intended legal effect and that no correction is required.  

 

Technical Scrutiny point 3: 

Regulation 4(a) refers to paragraph 23 “of the terms of service”. “Terms of service” is defined 

in regulation 2 as “the terms set out in Schedule 4”. Therefore, the location of paragraph 23 

is identified and no correction is required.  

 

Technical Scrutiny point 4:  

The Welsh Government notes the point made but considers that in the context of regulation 

7(4) and Schedule 1 the reference to "paragraph (2)(n)" would be read as a reference to 

"paragraph 1(2)(n)" and, therefore, a correction is not strictly required. However, the 

Government is liaising with the SI Registrar to seek a correction slip.  

 

Technical Scrutiny point 5:  

The Welsh Government agrees that the provisions could be more precise. However, as these 

provisions cannot be interpreted in any other way other than to mean a reference to a 

“qualified practitioner”, it is not considered that correction is required. 

 

Technical Scrutiny point 6:  

Pack Page 19



 

 

The Welsh Government agrees that referring to “facts” rather than “factors” in regulation 

13(5) would be more consistent. However, the provision produces the correct legal effect. It 

is clear that the facts in paragraph 10 of Schedule 3 are the factors referred to in regulation 

13(5) and it is clear that the Local Health Board must consider those matters in Schedule 3, 

paragraph 10 and therefore no correction is required. 

 

Technical Scrutiny point 7:  

1 February 2006 is the date that the supplementary list system was established under the 

National Health Service (General Ophthalmic Services Supplementary List) and (General 

Ophthalmic Services) (Amendment and Consequential Amendment) (Wales) Regulations 

2006. 30 July 2002 has been the relevant date in relation to the ophthalmic list since 2016.  

There is no intended policy change to these grounds for removal. Therefore, the provisions 

maintain the current position. 

 

Technical Scrutiny point 8:  

The Government notes the point made but considers that the proper construction of the 

provision would result in the reference being read as a reference to regulation 13 because 

regulation 15 does not deal with refusals. Therefore, a correction is not strictly required. 

However, the Government is liaising with the SI Registrar to see if this matter can be 

addressed by way of correction slip. 

 

Technical Scrutiny point 9:  

Local Health Boards will be directed to notify the NHS Counter Fraud Authority in relation to 

fraud cases within the meaning of regulation 17(3)(d) pending an amendment to the 

regulations to that effect. 

 

Technical Scrutiny point 10:  

The Welsh Government accepts that referring to a “qualified practitioner” would be 

consistent, however, the correct legal meaning is clear as the only people to whom it is 

relevant are those who are “qualified practitioners”. 

 

Technical Scrutiny point 11:  

The Welsh Government accepts that referring to a “qualified practitioner” would be 

consistent, however, the correct legal meaning is clear as the only people to whom it is 

relevant are those who are “qualified practitioners”. 

 

Pack Page 20



 

 

Technical Scrutiny point 12:  

The Government notes point but considers that there is no doubt as to the Regulations that 

are being referred to. Whilst the Welsh Government, therefore, considers that a correction is 

not required it is liaising with the S.I. Registrar about the possibility of clarifying this by way 

of correction slip.  

 

Technical Scrutiny point 13:  

The Government notes the error in the cross-referencing and is liaising with the S.I. Registrar 

about the possibility of a correction slip to refer to paragraph “(i)” rather than “(g)”.  

 

Technical Scrutiny point 14:  

The Government notes the omission of two words “and experience” in the Welsh language 

text in paragraph 3(7) of Schedule 2. However, paragraph 1 of Schedule 2 to the Regulations, 

regulation 9 and Section 71 of the National Health Service (Wales) Act 2006 all refer to 

“prescribed qualifications” and there can therefore be no adverse effect from the omission 

of those words. However, the Welsh Government is liaising with the S.I. Registrar about the 

possibility of inserting the words this by way of correction slip so that the Welsh and English 

are equivalent.  

 

Technical Scrutiny point 15:  

The Welsh Government notes that the term “health service” is only used once in the Schedule. 

However, it is considered that the correct legal meaning is clear and that no correction is 

therefore required.  

 

Technical Scrutiny point 16:  

The Welsh Government accepts that referring to a “qualified practitioner” would be 

consistent, however, the correct legal meaning is clear in the circumstances as the only people 

to whom it is relevant are those who are “qualified practitioners”. 

 

Technical Scrutiny point 17:  

The Welsh Government considers that the provision has the correct legal effect as a 

“certificate” is a “document”.  

 

Technical Scrutiny point 18:  

Pack Page 21



 

 

Under Schedule 3, paragraphs 10(1)(b) and 15(2)(b), the Local Health Board (“LHB”) must 

consider “all facts which appear to be relevant” including (but not limited to) those specifically 

listed. The length of time since a conviction is particularly relevant given the potential for a 

person to have been convicted of an offence long after the conduct of the offence. The length 

of time since the offence, and since the conviction for the offence, are therefore listed as 

specific facts to be taken into account and the Welsh Government considers that this 

provision is suitable. 

  

Technical Scrutiny point 19:  

The Welsh Government notes the very slight difference in the Welsh and English language 

text. However, it is not considered that this needs to be corrected as the provision has the 

correct legal effect. 

 

Technical Scrutiny point 20:  

The Welsh Government considers that this provision is effective. Paragraph 15(1) of Schedule 

4 refers to “information” provided under paragraph 7 of Schedule 3. This would capture any 

information forming part of a declaration provided by a qualified practitioner which is the 

intended effect. 

 

Technical Scrutiny point 21:  

The Welsh Government accepts that referring to a “qualified practitioner” would be 

consistent, however, the provision has the correct legal effect as the only people to whom it 

is relevant are those who are “qualified practitioners”. 

 

Technical Scrutiny point 22:  

The Welsh Government agrees that the suggested wording could have been more precise. 

However, in context, the intention and legal effect is clear and it is not considered that this 

needs to be corrected. 

 

Pack Page 22



   
 

 

SL(6)392 – The Water Resources (Control of 

Agricultural Pollution) (Wales) (Amendment) (No. 2) 

Regulations 2023 

Background and Purpose 

The Water Resources (Control of Agricultural Pollution) (Wales) Regulations 2021 (the 2021 

Regulations) seek to tackle the causes of water pollution from agricultural activities across 

Wales.  

The 2021 Regulations impose limits on the application of organic manure: regulation 4 of the 

2021 Regulations limits the amount of nitrogen in livestock manure that may be applied to a 

holding (whether directly by an animal or by spreading) to 170kg multiplied by the area of the 

holding in hectares.  

For holdings that were not previously in a nitrate vulnerable zone, regulation 4 was subject to 

a transitional period. For such holdings, regulation 4 was originally intended to apply from 30 

April 2023. In April 2023, that deadline was changed to 31 October 2023. Now, these 

Regulations change that date again, extending the transitional period by a further 2 months 

so that holdings that were not previously situated in a nitrate vulnerable zone will have to 

comply with the 170kg limit from 1 January 2024. 

Because of the change in dates, the associated record-keeping requirements in regulation 36 

of the 2021 Regulations are also amended. 

These Regulations do not change the application of the 170kg limit to holdings that were 

previously in a nitrate vulnerable zone. 

Procedure 

Negative 

The Regulations were made by the Welsh Ministers before they were laid before the Senedd. 

The Senedd can annul the Regulations within 40 days (excluding any days when the Senedd 

is: (i) dissolved, or (ii) in recess for more than four days) of the date they were laid before the 

Senedd. 

Technical Scrutiny 

One point is identified for reporting under Standing Order 21.2 in respect of this instrument. 

1. Standing Order 21.2(vii) – that there appear to be inconsistencies between the 

meaning of its English and Welsh texts 

Pack Page 23

Agenda Item 4.2

https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=42080
https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=42080
https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=42080


   
 

 

In regulation 2(3)(a), there is a slight difference between the English and Welsh text that could 

potentially lead to a difference in interpretation. In the English text, the new text states “any 

year beginning 1 January”, but the translation has conveyed the meaning as “any year 

beginning on 1 January”. In the Explanatory Note, it does state in both language texts that 

regulation 2(3) amends regulation 4 so that the limit of nitrogen in livestock manure applies 

to each 12-month period “beginning with 1 January”. 

The Welsh Government’s drafting guidelines recommend avoiding the use of “on” when 

describing the beginning or ending of periods of time – see Writing Laws for Wales 8.3 and 

8.4. This is because the use of “on” may cause doubt as to whether the period of time will 

begin or end at a particular time on that day. The drafting guidelines recommend the use of 

“with” for clarity and to avoid any ambiguity.  

However, we note this difference between the English and Welsh text when describing the 

beginning and ending of periods already exists in the bilingual text of the 2021 Regulations in 

a few places.  

Merits Scrutiny  

No points are identified for reporting under Standing Order 21.3 in respect of this instrument. 

Welsh Government response 

A Welsh Government response is required. 

Committee Consideration 

The Committee considered the instrument at its meeting on 23 October 2023 and reports to 

the Senedd in line with the reporting point above. 

 

Pack Page 24

https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-11/writing-laws-for-wales-guidance-on-drafting-legislation.pdf


Government Response: The Water Resources (Control of Agricultural 

Pollution) (Wales) (Amendment) (No. 2) Regulations 2023 

 

Technical Scrutiny point 1:  

The general principle followed, when amending existing legislation, is to maintain 

consistency with the terminology and phrasing of the original text. The Water Resource 

(Control of Agricultural Pollution) (Wales) Regulations 2021 has “dechrau ar” to 

correspond to the English “beginning 1 January” in regulation 6(3). It was felt therefore 

that the same phrasing should be used on this occasion. Also, given that the 

explanatory note to the Regulations does state in both language texts that regulation 

2(3) amends regulation 4 so that the limit of nitrogen in livestock manure applies to 

each 12-month period “beginning with 1 January”, it is sufficiently clear to the reader 

what is intended under regulation 2(3)(a). Therefore, an amendment to address this 

technical scrutiny point is not considered necessary. 

Pack Page 25



 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

WRITTEN STATEMENT 

BY 

THE WELSH GOVERNMENT 
 

 

 

 

TITLE The Plant Protection Products (Miscellaneous Amendments) 
Regulations 2023 

DATE 24 October 2023 

 

BY 
Lesley Griffiths MS, Minister for Rural Affairs and North Wales 

and Trefnydd 
 

 

Members of the Senedd will wish to be aware we are giving consent to the Secretary 
of State exercising a subordinate legislation-making power in a Devolved area in 
relation to Wales. 

 
Agreement was sought by Rebecca Pow MP, the Minister for Environmental Quality 
and Resilience on behalf of Lord Benyon, Minister for Biosecurity, Marine and Rural 
Affairs at the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) to make 
a Statutory Instrument (SI) titled The Plant Protection Products (Miscellaneous 
Amendment) Regulations 2023 (the “Regulations”). 

 
The above titled SI will be made by the Secretary of State, in exercise of the powers 
conferred by sections 14(2), (4)(b) and (c) and (7) and 20(1)(a) and (b) of the Retained 
EU Law (Revocation and Reform) Act 2023 (“2023 Act”). 

 

The purpose of the Regulations is to temporarily extend or reinstate transitional 
provisions put in place through EU Exit legislation in relation to seed treatments and 
parallel trade products,the aim being to enable a sufficient supply of treated seed and 
plant protection products on the GB market, thus supporting good crop establishment 
and reduced costs to growers and buyers of food and feed. The Regulations will 
maintain the current approach on treated seed imports and will reinstate a similar 
approach to parallel trade that exists across the EU. There is no policy divergence on 
this matter between Welsh Government, Scottish Government and DEFRA at this 
time. 

 
The SI was laid before the UK Parliament on 23 October 2023 to come into force on 
31 December 2023. 

Pack Page 26

Agenda Item 5.1



Any impact the SI may have on the Senedd’s legislative competence and/or the 
Welsh Ministers’ executive competence. 

 
Functions conferred by the legislation being amended, are conferred on Welsh 
Ministers for Wales or on the Secretary of State with Welsh Ministers consent. This 
means Welsh Ministers retain the relevant functions (or may delegate those 
functions to the Health and Safety Executive via an Agency Agreement between the 
Welsh Ministers and HSE). 

 
The purpose of the amendments 

 
The purpose of the Regulations is to extend the transitional measures through 
legislation. This will allow the temporary continued use of relevant seed treatments 
and plant protection products whilst providing further time for these treatments and 
products to either go through the GB authorisation process themselves or for 
manufacturers to develop alternative treatments / products which can be authorised 
for use in GB. 

 
The Regulations and accompanying Explanatory Memorandum, setting out the detail 
of the provenance, purpose and effect of the amendments is available here: 

 
Statutory Instrument: The Plant Protection Products (Miscellaneous Amendments) 
Regulations 2023 (legislation.gov.uk) 

 

Explanatory Memorandum: The Plant Protection Products (Miscellaneous 
Amendments) Regulations 2023 (legislation.gov.uk) 

 

Why consent has been given 
 
Consent has been given for the UK Government to make this instrument as it is 
considered appropriate, on this occasion, for the UK Government to legislate on a 
GB-wide basis. Plant Health and Pesticides are areas where the Welsh Ministers 
have often consented to the SOS making legislation on a GB-basis due to the GB 
wide approach to the subject matter. This approach ensures there is no divergence 
between Welsh and other GB regulations, reducing any confusion and disadvantage 
for Welsh traders and reducing any potential administrative burden for the Health 
and Safety Executive when administering permits for parallel trade and in 
undertaking any enforcement activity. 

Pack Page 27

https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.legislation.gov.uk%2Fukdsi%2F2023%2F9780348252651%2Fpdfs%2Fukdsi_9780348252651_en.pdf&data=05%7C01%7CJenny.Fletcher%40gov.wales%7C6097728e6cff4d93eb2408dbd3c6ff29%7Ca2cc36c592804ae78887d06dab89216b%7C0%7C1%7C638336623891321486%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=zY6LJc7VVnjBpZR54i8VQ%2BDfgqlaHWJOQPnZoMTAjUs%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.legislation.gov.uk%2Fukdsi%2F2023%2F9780348252651%2Fpdfs%2Fukdsi_9780348252651_en.pdf&data=05%7C01%7CJenny.Fletcher%40gov.wales%7C6097728e6cff4d93eb2408dbd3c6ff29%7Ca2cc36c592804ae78887d06dab89216b%7C0%7C1%7C638336623891321486%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=zY6LJc7VVnjBpZR54i8VQ%2BDfgqlaHWJOQPnZoMTAjUs%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.legislation.gov.uk%2Fukdsi%2F2023%2F9780348252651%2Fpdfs%2Fukdsiem_9780348252651_en_001.pdf&data=05%7C01%7CJenny.Fletcher%40gov.wales%7C6097728e6cff4d93eb2408dbd3c6ff29%7Ca2cc36c592804ae78887d06dab89216b%7C0%7C1%7C638336623891321486%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=Gw14%2FSEhsMSJwEcPyeWs0JGSX0gagLVOrR9i%2FTXJtkY%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.legislation.gov.uk%2Fukdsi%2F2023%2F9780348252651%2Fpdfs%2Fukdsiem_9780348252651_en_001.pdf&data=05%7C01%7CJenny.Fletcher%40gov.wales%7C6097728e6cff4d93eb2408dbd3c6ff29%7Ca2cc36c592804ae78887d06dab89216b%7C0%7C1%7C638336623891321486%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=Gw14%2FSEhsMSJwEcPyeWs0JGSX0gagLVOrR9i%2FTXJtkY%3D&reserved=0


Lesley Griffiths AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Materion Gwledig a Gogledd Cymru, a’r Trefnydd 
Minister for Rural Affairs and North Wales, and Trefnydd 

 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Lesley.Griffiths@llyw.cymru 
                Correspondence.Lesley.Griffiths@gov.wales 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Huw Irranca-Davies MS  
Chair 
Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee 
Senedd Cymru 
 
SeneddLJC@senedd.wales  
  
 

24th October 2023 
 
 
 
 
Dear Huw, 
 
 
 
The Plant Protection Products (Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations 2023 
 
I refer to my letter to you of 13 September 2023. I wish to inform the Committee I have given 
my consent to Minister of State to lay the Plant Protection Products (Miscellaneous 
Amendments) Regulations 2023 in relation to Wales. I have laid a Written Statement which 
can be found https://senedd.wales/media/tc2p1has/ws-ld16099-e.pdf 
 
The Regulations intersect with devolved policy and will apply to Wales. The Regulations will 
extend to England, Scotland and Wales. The Statutory Instrument (SI) is subject to the 
affirmative procedure and was laid before the UK Parliament on 23 October 2023 with a 
commencement date of 31 December 2023. 
 
Although the Welsh Government’s general principle is that the law relating to devolved 
matters should be made and amended in Wales, on this occasion, it is considered appropriate 
for the UK Government to legislate on a GB-wide basis. Plant Health and Pesticides are areas 
where the Welsh Ministers have often consented to the SOS making legislation on a GB-
basis due to the GB wide approach to the subject matter.  This approach would ensure there 
is no divergence between Welsh and other GB regulations, reducing any confusion and 
disadvantage for Welsh trader and reducing any potential administrative burden for the Health 
and Safety Executive when administering permits for parallel trade and in undertaking any 
enforcement activity.  
 
 
 
 

Pack Page 28

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Lesley.Griffiths@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Lesley.Griffiths@gov.wales
mailto:SeneddLJC@senedd.wales
https://senedd.wales/media/tc2p1has/ws-ld16099-e.pdf


 
 
I have written similarly to Paul Davies MS, the Chair of the Economy, Trade, and Rural 
Affairs Committee (ETRA). 
 
Yours sincerely, 

 
Lesley Griffiths AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Materion Gwledig a Gogledd Cymru, a’r Trefnydd 
Minister for Rural Affairs and North Wales, and Trefnydd 

Pack Page 29



Mick Antoniw AS/MS 
Y Cwnsler Cyffredinol a Gweinidog y Cyfansoddiad 
Counsel General and Minister for the Constitution 

 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

                                   Gohebiaeth.Cwnsler.Cyffredinol@llyw.cymru 
Correspondence.Counsel.General@gov.wales   

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Eich cyf/Your ref CG/PO/362/2023 
Ein cyf/Our ref DC/CG/00134/23 
 
 
 
 
 
Huw Irranca-Davies MS, 
Chair 
Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee 
Senedd Cymru 
 

SeneddLJC@senedd.wales 
 
 

24th October 2023 
 
 
 
Dear Huw, 
 
Further to my letter of 17 October, I am writing in accordance with the inter-institutional 
relations agreement to let you know that the Inter-Ministerial Group for Elections and 
Registration meeting, due to be held on 25 October 2023, has been formally postponed. I 
will write to you again when I have the details of the re-arranged meeting. 
 
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
Mick Antoniw AS/MS 
Gwnsler Cyffredinol a Gweinidog y Cyfansoddiad 
Counsel General and Minister for the Constitution  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pack Page 30

Agenda Item 5.2

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Cwnsler.Cyffredinol@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Counsel.General@gov.wales
mailto:SeneddLJC@senedd.wales


 

 

 

 1 

 

 

WRITTEN STATEMENT 

BY 

THE WELSH GOVERNMENT 
 

TITLE  
 
The Public Procurement (Agreement on Government 
Procurement) (Thresholds) (Amendment) Regulations 2023  

DATE   27 October 2023 

BY Rebecca Evans MS, Minister for Finance and Local Government 

 

 
THE PUBLIC PROCUREMENT (AGREEMENT ON GOVERNMENT PROCUREMENT) 
(THRESHOLDS) (AMENDMENT) REGULATIONS 2023 
 
Policy Overview of the SI: 

It is necessary for procurement legislation (detailed below) to be amended so as to effect 

domestic implementation of the Agreement on Government Procurement (GPA) under the 

Public Procurement (Agreement on Government Procurement) (Thresholds) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2023.  

The Law which is being amended: 

 
(“the Procurement Regulations”) 
 
The purpose of the amendments  

This instrument updates the public procurement reviewable financial thresholds in England, 
Wales and Northern Ireland which govern the procedures for the award of public contracts for 
goods, works and services.  
 
The SI and accompanying Explanatory Memorandum, setting out the effect of each 
amendment is available here:  
 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2023/1117/contents/made  
 
Any impact the SI may have on the Welsh Ministers’ executive competence 
 
The SI has no impact on the Welsh Ministers’ executive competence. 
 

Pack Page 31

Agenda Item 5.3

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2023/1117/contents/made


 2 

Any impact the SI may have on the legislative competence of the Senedd 
 
The SI has no impact on the Senedd’s legislative competence.  
 
Why consent was given 
 
The power to make these changes to the financial thresholds is conferred on the Minister for 
the Cabinet Office only.  These changes are required to ensure the UK complies with its 
obligations under the GPA.  We are content for the UK Government to make these 
Regulations in so far as they relate to an area of devolved competence.  
 
 

Pack Page 32



 
  
 

 

 

 

 

WRITTEN STATEMENT  

BY 

THE WELSH GOVERNMENT 
 

 

TITLE  

 

The Official Controls (Plant Health) (Prior Notification) and 
Phytosanitary Conditions (Amendment) Regulations 2023 

DATE  26 October 2023 

BY 
Lesley Griffiths MS, Minister for Rural Affairs and North Wales 

and Trefnydd 

  

Members of the Senedd will wish to be aware that we are giving consent to the 
Secretary of State exercising a subordinate legislation-making power in a devolved 
area in relation to Wales. 
 
Agreement was sought by Lord Benyon, Minister for Biosecurity, Marine and Rural 
Affairs at the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) to make 
a Statutory Instrument (SI) titled the Phytosanitary Conditions (Amendment) 
Regulations 2023.  
 
The above titled SI will be made by the Secretary of State, in exercise of the powers 
conferred under Regulation (EU) 2016/2031, the Plant Health Regulations, and 
Regulation (EU) 2017/625, the Official Controls Regulations. 
 
The Regulations amend Regulation (EU) 2019/2072, the Phytosanitary Conditions 
Regulations, for multiple purposes. Primarily the amendments deregulate and include 
various pests to the Quarantine Pests and Provisional Quarantine Pests lists. 
Additionally, the amendments will introduce an amendment to enable provisions within 
the Borders Target Operating Model (TOM) 
 
The SI was laid before the UK Parliament on 26 October 2023. Urgent measures in 
the Regulations will come into force on 17 November and 24 November 2023 and non-
urgent measures on the 2 May 2024. 
 
Any impact the SI may have on the Senedd’s legislative competence and/or the 
Welsh Ministers’ executive competence 
 
Members will wish to note that the Regulations do not transfer any functions to the 

Secretary of State.  

Pack Page 33

Agenda Item 5.4



 

The purpose of the amendments 

 
The purpose of the amendments are to update aspects of the Phytosanitary 
Conditions Regulations (PCR) to introduce the following changes:  

 Deregulate specific GB quarantine pests (QPs) which have been assessed by 
the Plant Health Risk Group (PHRG) as not meeting the criteria to be a QP. 

 The addition of new GB QPs which have been assessed by the PHRG as 
meeting the criteria to be a QP. 

 The addition of new GB provisional quarantine pests (PQPs) which have been 
assessed by the PHRG as meeting the criteria to be a QP on the basis of a 
provisional assessment. 

 Update import requirements to take account of changes in the material traded. 

 Introduce a change missed in a previous SI. 

 Formalise an easement in order to make import requirements work in 
practice. 

 Include a derogation which was carried over as retained EU law but which has 
now expired and needs to be included in GB legislation. 

 
In addition, the amendments will introduce an amendment to enable provisions 
within the Borders Target Operating Model (TOM). This provision will amend the 
Official Control Regulations (OCR) to provide an exception of certain fruit and 
vegetables to the pre-notification requirements of the OCR. 
 
The Regulations and accompanying Explanatory Memorandum, setting out the detail 
of the provenance, purpose and effect of the amendments is available here:  
 
The Official Controls (Plant Health) (Prior Notification) and Phytosanitary Conditions 
(Amendment) Regulations 2023 (legislation.gov.uk) 
 
Why consent has been given 
 
Consent has been given for the UK Government to make this instrument in relation to, 
and on behalf of, Wales as the SI relates to a devolved area, however, the SI operates 
GB-wide and has effect on the restrictions regarding the importation of plants and plant 
products into GB. Introducing separate regulations in Wales and England may cause 
additional burden on the Animal and Plant Health Agency (APHA), business, traders 
and growers. Regulating on a GB-wide basis ensures a coherent and consistent 
statute book with the regulations being accessible in a single instrument with no risk 
of legislative divergence in GB. 
 

Pack Page 34

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2023/1131/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2023/1131/made


Lesley Griffiths AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Materion Gwledig a Gogledd Cymru, a’r Trefnydd 
Minister for Rural Affairs and North Wales, and Trefnydd 

 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Lesley.Griffiths@llyw.cymru 
                Correspondence.Lesley.Griffiths@gov.wales 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Huw Irranca-Davies MS  
Chair of the Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee 
Senedd Cymru 
SeneddLJC@senedd.wales  
  
 
 
 
 
 

 
30 October 2023 

 
 
 
 
 
Dear Huw, 
 
The Official Controls (Plant Health) (Prior Notification) and Phytosanitary Conditions 
(Amendment) Regulations 2023. 
 
I refer to my letter to you of 28 September 2023. I wish to inform the Committee I have given 
my consent to the Minister of State to lay the Official Controls (Plant Health) (Prior 
Notification) and Phytosanitary Conditions (Amendment) Regulations 2023 in relation to 
Wales. I have laid a Written Statement which can be found here. 
 
The Regulations intersect with devolved policy and will apply to Wales. The Regulations 
extend to England, Scotland and Wales. The Statutory Instrument (SI) is subject to the 
negative procedure and was laid before Parliament on 26 September 2023 with a 
commencement date of 17 November 2023, 24 November 2023 and 2 May 2024. 
 

Pack Page 35

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Lesley.Griffiths@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Lesley.Griffiths@gov.wales
mailto:SeneddLJC@senedd.wales
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fsenedd.wales%2Fmedia%2Fbxpn1ioa%2Fws-ld16112-e.pdf&data=05%7C01%7CLloyd.Harris005%40gov.wales%7C8024c2b1f59b4d43d4aa08dbd935337d%7Ca2cc36c592804ae78887d06dab89216b%7C0%7C1%7C638342594746728853%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=L3pToaCKmYhM%2Bz4AolLzjpTkGFvJrXUqZRpT4KQ3zyc%3D&reserved=0


Although the Welsh Government’s general principle is that the law relating to devolved 
matters should be made and amended in Wales, on this occasion, it was considered 
appropriate for the Regulations to be laid by UK Government. The Regulations relate to a 
devolved area, however, they impact on imports of plant and plant products GB-wide. Many 
of the changes in the Regulations relate to the importation of plants and plant products. 
Most of these goods which enter Wales come through English ports and would be subject to 
their importation legislation. Introducing separate regulations in Wales and England may 
cause additional burden on the Animal and Plant Health Agency (APHA), business, traders 
and growers. Regulating on a GB-wide basis ensures a coherent and consistent statute 
book with the regulations being accessible in a single instrument with no risk of legislative 
divergence in Great Britain. Additionally, doing Wales-only Regulations for some provisions 
within this SI would likely have implications for the task of reforming and consolidating plant 
health legislation following assimilation of the REUL Bill at the end of 2023, as well having 
implications for notifying the World Trade Organisation (WTO) of the changes. 
 
I have written similarly to Llŷr Gruffyd MS, the Chair of the Climate Change, Environment, 
and Infrastructure (CCEI) Committee. 
 
Yours sincerely  
 

 
Lesley Griffiths AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Materion Gwledig a Gogledd Cymru, a’r Trefnydd 
Minister for Rural Affairs and North Wales, and Trefnydd 

Pack Page 36



Y Gwir Anrh/Rt Hon Mark Drakeford AS/MS 
Prif Weinidog Cymru/First Minister of Wales 

 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

                                   Gohebiaeth.Mark.Drakeford@llyw.cymru 
               Correspondence.Mark.Drakeford@gov.wales  

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

 
 
 
Ein cyf/Our ref: LJCC/HID 
 
Huw Irranca-Davies MS, 
Chair of Legislation, Justice and  
Constitution Committee 
 
 

 
 
           23 October 2023 
 
Dear Huw, 
 
I am writing in response to your letter dated 29 September, concerning the Protocol 
amending the International Convention on the Conservation of Atlantic Tunas (ICCAT), also 
called the “Palma Protocol”. 
 
As you note, international relations, including the workings of the ICCAT, are a reserved 
matter. However, I agree the management of ICCAT species, particularly Bluefin Tuna, 
which are increasingly common in Welsh waters, are a matter for my Government. In this 
context, we agreed with DEFRA that the Protocol should be adopted as the amendments 
you describe are improvements to the operation of the Convention. 
 
You asked for further information on: 
 
 

• the intergovernmental engagement described in the Explanatory Memorandum 

 
The Palma Protocol was the subject of discussion at officials’ level and following legal 
advice, it was concluded the Protocol amendments to be of minimal or no concern to the 
UK, especially as they were reviewed prior to the UK signing on behalf of all 
Administrations. 
 

• what internal arrangements are in place to monitor, observe and implement 

recommendations of the Protocol’s Commission in devolved areas. 

As a contracting party to ICCAT, the UK is obliged to enact legislation to give effect to the 
domestic operation of the Convention. Certain sections of EU legislation were saved upon 
the exit of the UK from the EU in this regard. Officials in our Fisheries Division are 
responsible for monitoring, observing and implementing such regulations. Following Brexit, 

Pack Page 37

Agenda Item 6.1

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Mark.Drakeford@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Mark.Drakeford@gov.wales


 

 

a UK Framework was put in place for fisheries management noting the interaction of both 
reserved and devolved competencies. The framework sets out how the governments of the 
UK will interact in this policy area and is published at:  

 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fisheries-management-and-support-
provisional-common-framework 
 
 

• your assessment of whether any steps, including changes, are needed at this stage 

to ensure Wales is compliant with the amendments made by the Protocol in devolved 

areas. 

As you note the Protocol amends the scope of the ICCAT, as well as improving the way in 
which the Commission operates. It also inserts new objectives for contracting parties, these 
align with the Fisheries Objectives set out in the Fisheries Act 2020. There would be no 
immediate action for us to take to implement the Protocol.  
 
 
It should be noted, the Protocol only takes effect when three-quarters of the ICCAT 
contracting parties ratify it. Given the UK ratification brings the total to only 6 of 52 
contracting parties, any provisions developed as a result of the changes made by the 
Protocol are some way off requiring action.  
 

Yours sincerely, 

 
MARK DRAKEFORD 

 
 
 
 

Pack Page 38

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fisheries-management-and-support-provisional-common-framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fisheries-management-and-support-provisional-common-framework


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Y Pwyllgor Deddfwriaeth,  
Cyfiawnder a’r Cyfansoddiad 
— 
Legislation, Justice and  
Constitution Committee 

Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1SN 

SeneddDCC@senedd.cymru 
senedd.cymru/SeneddDCC 

0300 200 6565 

— 
Welsh Parliament 

Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN 
SeneddLJC@senedd.wales  

senedd.wales/SeneddLJC 
0300 200 6565 

 29 September 2023  

  

Dear Mark, 

As you are aware, the Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee is responsible for monitoring 

the implementation of non-trade international agreements in the Sixth Senedd. 

During our meeting on 11 September 2023, we considered the Protocol amending the International 

Convention on the Conservation of Atlantic Tunas (the “Palma Protocol”). The Palma Protocol amends the 

scope of the International Convention for the Conservation of Atlantic Tunas (the “Convention”) to cover 

sharks and other elasmobranchs that are oceanic, pelagic, and highly migratory found in the Atlantic 

Ocean. It also makes changes to the working procedures of the International Commission for the 

Conservation of Atlantic Tunas (the “Commission”). 

Although international relations is a reserved matter, changes made by the Palma Protocol to the 

Convention could affect devolved matters, for example, if devolved governments were required to 

observe and implement recommendations of the Commission relating to devolved matters. As outlined in 

our report, the Palma Protocol’s Explanatory Memorandum notes that the UK Government consulted with 

the devolved governments and that officials from Wales, as well as Scotland and Northern Ireland, 

confirmed that they were content for the UK Government to ratify the agreement. 

We would welcome your view of the Protocol, and would be grateful if you could please provide more 

information on: 

▪ the intergovernmental engagement described in the Explanatory Memorandum; 

Rt Hon Mark Drakeford MS  

First Minister for Wales 

 

Pack Page 39

https://senedd.wales/committee/725
https://business.senedd.wales/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=725&MId=13477&Ver=4


 

 

▪ what internal arrangements are in place to monitor, observe and implement 

recommendations of the Protocol’s Commission in devolved areas; and 

▪ your assessment of whether any steps, including changes, are needed at this stage to 

ensure Wales is compliant with the amendments made by the Protocol in devolved areas. 

I would be grateful to receive a response by 19 October 2023. 

I am copying this letter to the Chair of the Climate Change, Environment, and Infrastructure 

Committee.  

Yours sincerely, 

 

Huw Irranca-Davies 

Chair 

Pack Page 40



Julie James AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd 
Minister for Climate Change 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Julie.James@llyw.cymru                  
Correspondence.Julie.James@gov.Wales 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Our ref: MA/JJ/2739/23 
 
Huw Irranca-Davies MS 
Chair, Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee 
Senedd Cymru 
Cardiff Bay 
Cardiff  
CF99 1SN 
 
 

25 October 2023 
 
Dear Huw, 
 
I am writing to inform you that my officials are engaging with UK Government to explore joint 
working to outlaw blanket “no DSS” and “no Children” practices in residential lettings 
in Wales. In my view, this would deliver a discrete policy objective that is desirable in Wales.  
 
I have asked officials to ensure the policy is implemented in a way which complements 
housing law in Wales, and in particular ensures consistency with the Renting Homes 
(Wales) Act 2016.  
 
I will provide further information in due course. 
 
I am copying this letter to the Llywydd and the Chair of the Local Government and Housing 
Committee. 
 
Yours sincerely  
 

 
 
Julie James AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd 
Minister for Climate Change  
 

Pack Page 41

Agenda Item 6.2

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Julie.James@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Julie.James@gov.Wales


 

 

 

 1 

 

 

WRITTEN STATEMENT  

BY 

THE WELSH GOVERNMENT 
 

 

TITLE  

 

Statement on the progress of the Independent Commission on 
the Constitutional Future of Wales 

DATE  26 October 2023 

BY 
Mick Antoniw MS, Counsel General and Minister for the 
Constitution 

 

In July I provided a progress report on the work of the Independent Commission on the 
Constitutional Future of Wales.  
 
The First Minister, the leader of Plaid Cymru and I met Professor Laura McAllister this 
month for a regular update on the continuing work of the Commission. 
 
This is the progress report received from the Co-chairs. 
 
The Commission will finish its work by the end of the year and its final report will be 
published once the Senedd returns from recess in January 2024. 
 

Pack Page 42

Agenda Item 6.3

https://www.gov.wales/independent-commission-constitutional-future-wales-progress-report-october-2023


Mick Antoniw AS/MS 
Y Cwnsler Cyffredinol a Gweinidog y Cyfansoddiad 
Counsel General and Minister for the Constitution  

 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Mick.Antoniw@llyw.cymru                 
Correspondence.Mick.Antoniw@gov.Wales 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Ein cyf/Our ref: MA/CG/2641/23 
 
 
Huw Irranca-Davies MS 
Chair 
Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee 
Senedd Cymru 
Cardiff Bay 
Cardiff 
 
 
 

1 November 2023 
 
 
Dear Huw, 
 
The future of Welsh law: A programme for 2021 to 2026 
Annual Report 2022-23 
 
I enclose a copy the second Annual Report on the Government’s programme to improve the 
accessibility of Welsh law, which is being laid before Senedd Cymru as required by section 
2(7) of the Legislation (Wales) Act 2019.  
 
The report also includes, in the form of an Annex, the review of the Legislation (Wales) Act 
2019, as agreed during the scrutiny of the Bill. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 

 
 
 
Mick Antoniw AS/MS 
Y Cwnsler Cyffredinol a Gweinidog y Cyfansoddiad 
Counsel General and Minister for the Constitution  
 

Pack Page 43

Agenda Item 6.4

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Mick.Antoniw@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Mick.Antoniw@gov.Wales


  

Pack Page 44



Pack Page 45



Purpose of report 
 

1. This annual report is the second to be prepared under section 2(7) of the Legislation 

(Wales) Act 2019. It sets out the progress made under the Government’s programme to 

improve the accessibility of Welsh law: The Future of Welsh Law: a programme for 2021 

to 2026, from 15 October 2022 to 30 September 2023.  

 

2. The previous annual report covered the period from 21 September 2021 (when the 

programme was laid) to 14 October 2022. For consistency future annual reports are 

intended to cover the year from the beginning of October to the end of September. 

 

Background to programme 
 

3. Each programme prepared under the Legislation (Wales) Act 2019 must include projects 

that: 

 

a. contribute to an ongoing process of consolidating and codifying Welsh law 

b. maintain the form of Welsh law (once codified) 

c. promote awareness and understanding of Welsh law 

d. facilitate use of the Welsh language. 

 

4. The first programme under the 2019 Act was laid before the Senedd on 21 September 

2021 and contains a blend of legislative and non-legislative projects designed to achieve 

this requirement. The first annual report on the programme was published on 7 

November 2022. 

 

5. This second annual report provides a further update on these projects by reference to 

our overarching aims in respect of: 

 

a. classification of Welsh law 

b. consolidation of Welsh law 

c. codification of Welsh law, and 

d. communication of Welsh law. 

 

6. This report also includes a review of the 2019 Act, as agreed with the (then) 

Constitutional and Legislative Affairs Committee and the Finance Committee of the Fifth 

Senedd, during their scrutiny of the Legislation (Wales) Bill. The Government’s 

commitment to review the 2019 Act has also been referred to in evidence from the 

Counsel General to the Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee of this Senedd. 

This review has been conducted at the mid-way point through this Senedd term, as 

originally agreed, and is set out in the Annex to this report. 

 

Pack Page 46

https://gov.wales/the-future-of-welsh-law-accessibility-programme-2021-to-2026
https://gov.wales/the-future-of-welsh-law-accessibility-programme-2021-to-2026
https://www.gov.wales/the-future-of-welsh-law-annual-report-2021-to-2022


 

 

Classification of Welsh law 
 

Programme commitments: 

During this Senedd term the Government will: 

a. review and revise the existing draft taxonomy of subjects (originally prepared and 

consulted upon in 2019) so as to establish which enactments in devolved areas of law 

should belong to each tier of the taxonomy.  

b. work with The National Archives team responsible for legislation.gov.uk to provide 

additional functionality on that site so that users may access Welsh law by subject. 

 
Progress during reporting period 
 

7. It has not been possible to progress the work on settling the taxonomy beyond the initial 

identified Codes of Welsh law and preliminary work reported upon in the first annual 

report. It remains the case that the taxonomy will benefit from user testing, which will 

be taken forward when The National Archives are able to work with us on better 

organising Welsh legislation on the legislation.gov.uk website. 

 

8. As reported in the last annual report, The National Archives has prioritised work on 

improving the functionality of the legislation.gov.uk website to enable amendments to 

Welsh law in the Welsh language to be displayed in context (see below).   

 

Consolidation of Welsh law 
 

Programme commitments: 

During this Senedd term the Government will develop: 

a. a consolidation Bill that brings together the law on the historic environment. 

b. a consolidation Bill that simplifies and modernises the law on planning. 

c. a consolidation Bill that repeals or disapplies legislative provisions from across the 

statute book that are obsolete, spent, or are no longer of practical utility in relation to 

Wales. 

We will also: 

a. review the existing legislation in a number of areas with a view to identifying a further 

two consolidation projects to be prepared during this Senedd term. 

Pack Page 47



b. develop the package of subordinate legislation expected to be required to implement 

the historic environment Bill. 

c. undertake a phased project of consolidating key town and country planning 

subordinate legislation. 

d. remake and update the rules of the conduct of local government elections in Wales. 

e. prepare the ‘Representation of the People Order’ bilingually ahead of the general 

election to the Senedd in 2026. 

 

Progress during reporting period 
 

Historic Environment (Wales) Act 2023 and supporting subordinate legislation 
 

9. The Welsh Government’s first consolidation project – the Historic Environment (Wales) 

Bill – was unanimously approved by Senedd members on 28 March 2023. The Business 

Committee appointed the Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee to be the 

Committee responsible for scrutiny of the Bill during its ten-month passage through 

Senedd Cymru. Amongst other matters, the Committee considered whether: 

 

a. the scope of the consolidation was appropriate, 

b. relevant enactments had been included,  

c. enactments had been correctly consolidated and their effect preserved, and 

d. the law had been consolidated clearly and consistently.  

 

10. During its scrutiny of the legislation, the Committee took evidence from the Law 

Commission as well as relevant historic environment stakeholders. In its report on the 

initial consideration of the Bill,1 the Committee commented on the consistently positive 

response that stakeholders gave to the consolidation and the improved accessibility that 

it gave to the law. Indeed, when three representatives of the Law Commission appeared 

before the Committee on 26 September 2022, the Commission’s Chair, Sir Nicholas 

Green, remarked:  

 

…as individuals we think it’s an impressive piece of work… we think it’s a very high-

quality piece of work. 

 

11. The Committee recognised “the importance of the Bill as the first of its kind for the 

Senedd and for Welsh law” and acknowledged the benefits that consolidation would 

bring. The legislation received Royal Assent on 14 June 20232 and it is now possible to 

discuss these benefits in more concrete terms. The Act will transform the accessibility of 

 
1 Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee, Report on the Historic Environment (Wales) Bill (December 
2022) 
2 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asc/2023/3/contents/enacted  

Pack Page 48

https://senedd.wales/media/akegxuvc/cr-ld15580-e.pdf
https://senedd.wales/media/akegxuvc/cr-ld15580-e.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asc/2023/3/contents/enacted


the law for owners and occupiers of scheduled monuments and listed buildings, third-

sector groups, public authorities and others. For the first time, it brings the principal 

legislation for the historic environment together in one place, states it explicitly for 

Wales without confusing references to other jurisdictions, and provides the law and its 

supporting documentation in fully bilingual form. Furthermore, the law has been 

reorganised and restated in clear, everyday language so that it will be easier for 

everyone to use and understand. To help users navigate and understand the new 

legislation, an enhanced suite of supporting documents has been prepared and is 

available alongside the legislation and the explanatory notes on legislation.gov.uk3. Also 

fully bilingual, these documents include origins and destinations tables, which helpfully 

relate provisions in the new Act to the legislation that has been consolidated, and 

drafters’ notes, which set out decisions taken during the consolidation.     

 

12. The Act is also explicitly part of a Code of Welsh law, reflecting that consolidation and 

codification were identified in The future of Welsh law as two fundamental mechanisms 

for bringing clarity and order to the law of Wales4. The Act, together with the new 

subordinate legislation that will be enacted to support it, will form a Code of Welsh 

historic environment law and will be published together. If changes to the law are 

needed in the future, they will be made by amending the Code rather than by making 

new “stand-alone” enactments, unless there is very good reason to do so. This will 

maintain the order that has been imposed on the historic environment law for Wales by 

the consolidation exercise.  

 

13. Although the Historic Environment (Wales) Act 2023 has become law, it will not be 

commenced until later in 2024, after the secondary legislation required to support it has 

been brought into force. A substantial amount of well-established secondary legislation 

was incorporated into the Act, but much remains to be restated in several sets of 

regulations covering a range of procedural and other matters affecting scheduled 

monuments and listed buildings. This work is now under way and progress on making 

these regulations will be set out in future reports. The approach taken to the 

subordinate legislation will mirror that taken in the consolidation, to improve the 

accessibility of the law by restating and reorganising it while preserving its effect. Each 

set of regulations will also form part of the Code of historic environment law for Wales.  

 

Simplification and modernisation of planning law (including subordinate legislation) 
 

14. Significant progress has been made during the reporting period on consolidating the 

main Acts that provide the legislative framework for the planning system in Wales: 

 

a. the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (‘the TCPA’) 

 
3 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asc/2023/3/resources  
4 The future of Welsh law: A programme for 2021-2026 (Welsh Government 2021) 

Pack Page 49

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asc/2023/3/resources
https://www.gov.wales/the-future-of-welsh-law-accessibility-programme-2021-to-2026-html


b. the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, Parts 3 to 6 

c. the Planning Act 2008, Part 11. 

 

15. Work is also underway to consolidate provisions currently found in other Acts relevant 

to planning to improve accessibility and clarity. These include provisions in: 

 

a. the Public Health Act 1936 

b. the Local Government Act 1972 

c. the Planning and Compensation Act 1991 

d. the Environment Act 1995 

e. the Planning (Wales) Act 2015. 

 

16. It is anticipated that the consolidation will provide an opportunity to incorporate 

relevant provisions from secondary legislation into the Act where appropriate. This 

course may be taken when the secondary legislation is well established and is not likely 

to require frequent amendment, or where it modifies the primary legislation – a similar 

position was taken during the consolidation of historic environment law. 

 

17. Although the final form and content of the Bill is still be developed, it is expected to 

cover: 

 

a. planning authorities 

b. development plans 

c. development management  

d. certificates of lawfulness of existing and proposed uses of land 

e. enforcement of development management regime 

f. compensation and purchase notices  

g. acquisition and appropriation of land for planning purposes 

h. planning obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy 

i. planning for minerals and waste 

j. statutory undertakers 

k. highways (affected by development) 

l. regulation of outdoor advertising 

m. trees and woodlands  

n. maintenance of unsightly land 

o. blighted land. 

 

18. These elements, together with the general provisions, and consequential, transitional 

and saving provisions, are expected to produce approximately 450 pages of legislation in 

each language.   

 

Pack Page 50



19. Given the scale and complexity of the consolidation involved we are currently aiming to 

introduce the Bill into the Senedd in the summer of 2024; this is being kept under review 

and Members will be updated in due course. 

 

20. Work on the subordinate legislation to implement the Bill will begin after it has been 

approved by the Senedd and received Royal Assent. 

 

Bill previously referred to as the Statute Law (Repeals) (Wales) Bill 
 

21. Following the consultation on a draft Statute Law (Repeals) (Wales) Bill that was 

launched on 7 October 2022 (and noted in the last annual report), the Government 

published a summary report of the responses received. 

 

22. Overall, only a limited number of responses were received and most only commented 

on one or two matters. Most responses on these areas were in favour of making the 

proposed amendments and repeals. Of the concerns and comments received, many 

related to minor technical and drafting matters. All of the comments and concerns 

raised have been considered further as work on the Bill has progressed during 2023. 

 

23. Further consideration is being given to the short title of the proposed legislation, in 

order to express in a more modern way the intention of what the Bill will achieve. It is 

intended the Bill will be introduced when time permits in Year 3 of the Government’s 

legislative programme (most likely in the first half of 2024). 

 

Scoping of further subject areas 
 

24. As noted in the Government’s response5 to the Legislation, Justice and Constitution 

Committee’s report6 on the Environment (Air Quality and Soundscapes) (Wales) Bill, 

consideration was given to consolidating relevant parts of the Environment Act 1995 

during the preparation of the Bill. However, to do so would result in a reduction in the 

executive competence of the Welsh Ministers due to the constraints of Senedd 

legislative competence.  

 

25. As set out in the first report, work on scoping future projects will be undertaken later in 

this programme. 

 

The National Assembly for Wales (Representation of the People) Order 2007  
 

26. Work has begun on consolidating and remaking the National Assembly for Wales 

Representation of the People) Order 2007, ahead of the Senedd elections in May 2026. 

 
5 Eich cyf (senedd.wales) 
6 Report on the Environment (Air Quality andSoundscapes) (Wales) Bill (senedd.wales) 

Pack Page 51

https://www.gov.wales/statute-law-repeals-wales-bill
https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s139314/LJC6-23-23%20-%20Paper%2063%20-%20Letter%20from%20the%20Minister%20for%20Climate%20Change%201%20September%202023.pdf
https://senedd.wales/media/sz4fekki/cr-ld15959-e.pdf


The 2007 Order currently contains over 270 pages and is available in English only (apart 

from the forms contained in the Schedules), but the new Order will be fully bilingual and 

will incorporate all the necessary changes from both the Senedd Reform and Electoral 

Reform projects currently being pursued. A consultation will be held on a draft of the 

proposed Order, to inform further work. 

 

Codification of Welsh law 
 

Programme commitments: 

There were no immediate proposals to codify Welsh law in the programme, but this is 

being kept under review. 

 

Historic Environment (Wales) Act 2023 
 

27. The consolidation of historic environment law has resulted in the Historic Environment 

(Wales) Act 2023 forming part of a Code of law on the historic environment in Wales.  

This Code will also include subordinate legislation made under the 2023 Act (see 

paragraphs 9 to 13 of this report). 

 

Codification of planning law 
 

28. As well as the creation of a Code of historic environment law our intention is that a Code 

of law will also be created relating to planning in Wales through the consolidation of 

planning law. Although the final content of that Code is yet to be determined, a 

declaration of this status is intended to help persons interested in the law on a particular 

topic — town and country planning in this instance — find and classify it more easily. 

This Code of planning law will also contain subordinate legislation. 

 

Changes to Standing Orders 
 

29. During the Counsel General’s evidence to the Legislation, Justice and Constitution 

Committee on the (then) Historic Environment (Wales) Bill, he reiterated previous 

commitments to engage with the Llywydd on possible changes to Standing Orders in 

respect of Codes of Welsh law.  The intention is that future changes to the law that 

forms part of a Code are made by amending or replacing the enactments rather than 

making different, “stand-alone”, provisions that would again lead to a complex 

proliferation of laws. 

 

30. The next annual report will set out progress on this. 

 

Pack Page 52



Communication of Welsh law 
 

Programme commitments: 

During this Senedd term the Government will: 

a. work with the team behind the legislation.gov.uk site to ensure that bilingual Acts and 

Statutory Instruments are available in an up-to-date form in both languages.  

b. significantly expand and improve the content of the Cyfraith Cymru/Law Wales 

website to achieve a ‘one stop shop’ for accessing and understanding Welsh law. 

c. explore ways to move from a model of promulgating legislation based on 

20th century printed versions to a modern, digital-based system. 

d. develop our approach to preparing bilingual legislation, using linguistic technology to 

its full potential. 

e. explore the potential for using machine learning and artificial intelligence to make 

Welsh law more accessible. 

 

Progress during reporting period 
 

Ensuring Welsh law is available in up-to-date form on legislation.gov.uk 
 

31. As set out in the first report, the editorial team in The National Archives’ Legislation 

Services division has developed the functionality of legislation.gov.uk so as to enable 

amendments to Welsh language texts of legislation to be made. 

 

32. Since the new system went live in October 2022 a small team within the Legislative 

Codes Office of the Welsh Government has been applying the annotated amendments 

to both English and Welsh language texts of Welsh law on the site. This means that not 

only are the bilingual texts of Acts, Measures and Statutory Instruments being updated, 

the annotation explaining each effect is also available bilingually for readers of Welsh 

legislation, for the first time. 

 

33. In total, over 104,000 “effects” (changes that need to be implemented in order to 

present amended legislation in up-to-date form, and to explain what has happened) 

have been made to Welsh legislation since 1999. By the end of September 2023 nearly 

60% of these had been applied. Amendments to the English language text were 

previously dealt with by The National Archives own editorial team, but now all of the 

Welsh language texts have been dealt with by the Legislative Codes Office together with 

a number of amendments to the English language texts.  In the first twelve months of 

the project, approximately 40,000 effects have been applied. 

 

Pack Page 53



34. The emphasis has been on bringing primary legislation up to date, but as we have begun 

to conclude that part of the work we have also started to focus efforts on updating 

specific groups of statutory instruments. We have been prioritising those relating to the 

Renting Homes Acts and some local government legislation. We are now targeting the 

legislation that is most viewed on legislation.gov.uk, for example in relation to student 

support and food safety. 

 

35. The current position is that: 

 

a. 96% of Welsh Acts and Measures are up to date in both languages. Our priority is 

now to keep these up to date as and when they are amended by legislation made 

either by the Senedd or the UK Parliament. 

 

b. 43% of Welsh Statutory Instruments (of which there are over 6,100) are up to 

date in both languages, and there are just over 40,000 effects to be applied 

(about 29,000 to Welsh language texts and 11,000 to English language texts). 

 

36. Although significant progress has been made in the first year, the scale of the work yet 

to be done – particularly in relation to Welsh language texts – means this is a long-term 

project and one in which the end point is always moving: although 40,000 effects have 

been dealt with in the first twelve months, this only reduces the overall backlog by 

10,000 because during the same period an additional 30,000 effects were added to the 

system to be applied.  In addition, the number of effects does not realistically reflect the 

work involved: for example, in recent work on the Additional Learning Needs and 

Education Tribunal (Wales) Act 2018 one task required 436 different annotations and 

amendments to be made. 

 

37. The Legislative Codes Office continues to work closely with The National Archives to 

identify and resolve any unexpected issues that have arisen with the editorial process. 

This close working relationship has been instrumental in achieving the significant 

progress made to date. 

 

38. The Counsel General has issued Written Statements on progress to Members during the 

first year of the annotation programme; future updates are expected to be set out in 

subsequent annual reports. 

 

Expanding and improving the Cyfraith Cymru/Law Wales website 
 

39. During the year work has begun on developing a substantial new section of the Cyfraith 

Cymru/Law Wales website referred to as “Legislation in Wales”. This lists each piece of 

primary legislation made in Wales since devolution by year, and when the section is fully 

developed, each Act or Measure will have its own dedicated page. So far, the pages for 

Pack Page 54

https://law.gov.wales/constitution-and-government/legislation-wales


all Acts from January 2019 to May 2023 have been published, and the remaining pages 

should be available by the end of 2023.  

 

40. Each dedicated Act page contains: 

a. a summary of what the Act does 

b. a link to the Act itself on legislation.gov.uk 

c. a link to the Explanatory Notes and Explanatory Memorandum 

d. key dates including Royal Assent and coming into force  

e. key information on the introduction of the Bill 

f. consideration of the Bill by the Senedd with links to the Senedd’s website for 

further details 

g. a list of all subordinate legislation made under the Act, which includes links to 

the legislation on legislation.gov.uk and the Explanatory Memorandum (if 

available) or links to the relevant subordinate legislation made other than by 

statutory instrument on the gov.wales website 

h. supporting articles, guidance, or information. 

 

41. Undertaking this work has shown that the Bill pages on the Senedd’s website do not 

always contain the final version of the Explanatory Memorandum to a Bill (usually 

updated after the Bill has been passed and published on the gov.wales website). To 

ensure the Senedd website holds the full suite of information, the Senedd will be 

provided with the last revised versions of Explanatory Memorandums to Bills in future, 

and the Act pages on Cyfraith Cymru/Law Wales will link to those latest versions. 

 

42. These new pages are expected to strengthen the accessibility of the law in Wales as they 

will be the only resource available in which all the subordinate legislation made under an 

Act is available in one place – something which we know that stakeholders have asked for 

in the past. Including the subordinate legislation made other than by statutory instrument 

(such as directions, schemes, guidance, declarations) will also improve the availability of 

information for users.  

 

43. Additional content has also been included on the site from external contributors 

(predominantly legal firms working in Wales), in the form of articles. 

 

44. The Law Council of Wales, established by the Welsh Government following the report of 

the Commission on Justice in Wales, has recently commissioned research on public legal 

education in Wales.  Although that report is awaited, in an evidence-gathering session 

with advice providers and networks, academics and others (held in the summer of 

2023), the use and relevance of the Cyfraith Cymru/Law Wales website was 

acknowledged.  There were also calls to strengthen and develop the information 

available on it.  

 

Pack Page 55



Identifying opportunities to improve digital accessibility of legislation 
 

45. Some of the commitments in the programme relating to digital accessibility require 

engagement with the King’s Printer and officials at The National Archives. As noted in 

the previous report and earlier, they have continued to prioritise the annotation of 

Welsh language texts of Welsh law over the past year. They remain committed to 

working with us to continue to develop and improve the digital accessibility of 

legislation, but we had hoped to make further progress.  

 

46. See also paragraphs 61 and 62 on the form and structure of Welsh legislation. 

 

Strengthening arrangements for registering, publish and retaining subordinate legislation  
 

47. Work has begun on developing options to strengthen the arrangements for registering, 

publishing and retaining subordinate legislation made by the Welsh Ministers (including 

both statutory instruments and non-statutory instruments). It is anticipated that this will 

be progressed during the next twelve months, subject to the availability of staffing 

resources, and reported upon in the next annual report. 

 

Reviewing the Government’s approach to preparing bilingual legislation 
 

48. The Welsh Government’s Translation Service has completed the process of procuring 

new translation memory and terminology management software. Testing was 

undertaken over the summer the system became fully operational on 18 September 

2023. It is anticipated that the new system will make the translation process more 

efficient and accurate, as well as enabling more efficient ways of researching 

terminology, standardising terms and consulting upon them to be adopted.  

 

49. The normal terminology standardisation processes associated with Bill projects have 

continued during the year. For example, the standardisation process has been applied to 

democracy legislation, covering the Elections and Elected Bodies (Wales) Bill and the 

Welsh Parliament (Members and Elections) (Wales) Bill. These terms will also be 

valuable for future legislative work in this area. The work on the democracy legislation 

resulted in 95 new, revised or confirmed terms in the BydTermCymru database.   

 

50. During the reporting period a review of the legislative reference materials available on 

BydTermCymru has been undertaken. As a result of the review, and ongoing discussions 

between Translation Services, the Office of the Legislative Counsel and the Legal 

Services Department, a total of 38 records were added or updated between October 

2022 and September 2023. 

 

51. The Translation Service has also held induction sessions for new members of the Office 

of the Legislative Counsel, which focussed on how the translation process can help to 

Pack Page 56

https://www.gov.wales/bydtermcymru


improve the text in both languages. In addition, an information session for all Legal 

Services Department staff included a contribution focussing on cooperation between the 

Legislative Translation Unit and the Legal Services Department of the Welsh 

Government. 

 

52. As part of a procurement process to establish a new Framework Agreement to provide 

written and simultaneous translation services for the Welsh Government, a dedicated 

sub-lot was established for the legislation subject area. The hope is that this will provide 

an opportunity to build further expertise in the field among external suppliers. 

 

53. The Welsh Linguistic Infrastructure Policy was published at the end of June 2023. One of 

the aims of the Policy was to establish a new Unit within the Welsh Government to be 

responsible for the linguistic infrastructure of the Welsh language. That unit is now in 

place. Another of its aims was to create a new website to market and promote the 

available resources, such as dictionaries and terminology, to make it easier for people to 

use them and find solutions in the Welsh language. This service will ultimately help to 

ensure that standardised legislative terminology is widely available and will increase the 

profile of the work already being undertaken in this area. 

 

54. The Welsh Government has provided funding7 to the Language Technologies Unit at 

Bangor University to develop a suite of language technology resources. This included 

developing domain-specific machine translation for the law. Those working in the fields 

of justice and the law can now use a new machine-translation tool that has been 

specifically designed using legislative data. The aim of the tool is to provide more 

accurate translations than that provided by general machine-translation, and initial 

testing conducted in March 2023 (by measuring the difference between an automatic 

translation and human-created reference translations of the same source sentences) 

indicated an unusually high degree of accuracy. This is very promising in terms of the 

practical use of the tool in future. 

 

55. Of course, the resulting text must then be edited by a competent translator or editor 

before it is published. As machine-translation technology is becoming ever more 

sophisticated and dependable, the role of the translator is therefore beginning to evolve 

into more of a specialist editorial function, allowing translators to focus on making 

greater use of their linguistic skills. Consideration is also being to how these 

developments could enable more of the text to be produced simultaneously by 

legislative counsel subject to an editorial review of both languages.  

 

56. The tool can be accessed by going to Machine Translation in specific domains. 

(techiaith.cymru) and selecting the Legislation tab. 

 

 
7 £350k was allocated to develop this suite of resources in 2022-23 

Pack Page 57

https://cyfieithu.techiaith.cymru/
https://cyfieithu.techiaith.cymru/


Updating guidance and preparing additional guidance 
 

57. Work on revising the Office of the Legislative Counsel drafting guidance, Writing Laws 

for Wales, has started and it is anticipated that an updated version will be published 

during the next reporting period. This work occurs alongside the regular internal 

meetings held by Legislative Counsel to discuss general drafting issues and agree 

common approaches on points of detail. A user group has also been established to share 

best practice and optimise the use of the drafting software, Legislative Workbench 360.   

 

Other projects 
 

Programme commitments: 

During this Senedd term the Government will continue to work with the Law Commission. 

 

Progress during reporting period 
 

Working with the Law Commission 
 

58. The Law Commission of England and Wales has yet to publish its proposals for its 14th 

Programme of Law Reform, but it remains the case that the Commission is committed to 

working with the Welsh Government and stakeholders in Wales to identify suitable 

projects relating to the law in Wales. 

 

59. The Welsh Ministers will continue to use their powers to refer matters to the Law 

Commission for the Commission’s advice and information. Such references have 

previously led to completed projects that are now being taken forward within the Welsh 

Government – the Welsh Ministers laid their eighth annual report on the 

Implementation of Law Commission Proposals before the Senedd on 15 February 2023. 

 

60. The Ministry of Justice and the Attorney General’s Office have asked the Law 

Commission to review the law on both criminal and civil contempt. The Law Commission 

aims to publish a consultation paper in early 2024, inviting views on their provisional 

proposals for reform. In September 2023 the First Minister asked the Law Commission to 

include the devolved tribunals within the scope of this project. 

 

Form and structure of Welsh legislation 
 

61. In 2021 the Counsel General wrote to the Llywydd setting out some proposed changes 

to the form and structure of Welsh Acts and Statutory Instruments.  It was anticipated 

that the Senedd would consider these matters, but as the Legislation, Justice and 

Constitution Committee does not currently have the capacity to take this forward, the 

Pack Page 58

https://www.gov.wales/written-statement-report-implementation-law-commission-proposals-5


Government intends to consult upon the proposals itself, with a view to any final 

changes being agreed with the Llywydd (where these changes affect the form of Senedd 

Bills), the King’s Printer, The Stationery Office, The National Archives (where the changes 

would affect the printing and publication of Welsh legislation), and others as relevant. 

 

62. At present it is anticipated the consultation will cover: 

a. whether both a ‘long’ and ‘short’ title to a Bill/Act of the Senedd is required; 

b. overview provisions in Bills/Acts of the Senedd; 

c. simplifying or omitting the words of enactment in Acts of the Senedd; 

d. the use of dates in Acts of the Senedd (for example, in relation to the date of 
Royal Assent); 

e. adopting navigation aids within Acts of the Senedd, and possibly also Welsh 
Statutory Instruments, such as adding headers in the document to indicate the 
relevant Part or Schedule; 

f. the typeface used in both Acts of the Senedd and Welsh Statutory Instruments; 

g. adopting solutions that support improving both digital and print accessibility. 

 

Other matters 
 

Corrections to Welsh Statutory Instruments 
 

63. The Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee have written to the Counsel General 

on two occasions in the period covered by this report, regarding correcting Welsh 

Statutory Instruments.  The Counsel General has also responded on this matter as part 

of follow-up correspondence to oral evidence sessions with the Committee. 

 

64. The Government is putting a new process in place to ensure that Members of the 

Senedd are made aware of any corrections of a minor or technical nature that are made 

prior to the making of a draft affirmative instrument.  

 

Commonwealth Association of Legislative Counsel – Europe conference 2023 
 

65. In May 2023, officials from the Office of the Legislative Counsel were involved in 

arranging the 2023 Europe Conference of the Commonwealth Association of Legislative 

Counsel (CALC). The objective of the Association is to promote cooperation in matters of 

professional interest among people engaged in legislative drafting or in training people 

in legislative drafting.  

 

66. This year’s Europe conference was held in the Principality Stadium in Cardiff and 

attended by 140 delegates from across the globe.  Accessibility of the law and clarity in 

Pack Page 59



drafting legislation was a constant thread running through the two day event, which 

included: 

a. a keynote speech on the first day by The Rt Revd and Rt Hon Dr Rowan Williams, 
the former Archbishop of Canterbury, who shared his reflections on law and 
sovereignty and questions of definition, gleaned from his role as co-chair of the 
Independent Commission on the Constitutional Future of Wales; 

b. a keynote speech on the second day by Eleanor Sharpston KC, former Advocate 
General at the European Court of Justice, who shared her thoughts on legislative 
drafting in the multilingual, multicultural EU environment, and the compromises 
that must be made in settling legislative texts in those circumstances; 

c. an address by Dylan Hughes, the Government’s First Legislative Counsel, entitled 
Canon to confusion: what has happened to the law? Reflections on the statute 
book, the legal response to the pandemic and the rule of law, where he reflected 
on the experience of legislating bilingually in Wales during the Covid-19 
pandemic, and the considerable efforts made to ensure the public understood 
the restrictions in force at any given time; 

d. various breakout sessions led by other Welsh Government officials, with a 
particular focus on bilingual drafting and updating and annotating legislation in 
Welsh and English on legislation.gov.uk. 

 

Inter-office meetings to discuss approaches to legislation on an UK basis 
 

67. In February 2023 a time-limited group was established to consider legislative drafting 

issues that arise on an UK basis. The group consists of representatives from the four UK 

drafting offices (Wales, England/UK, Scotland and the Republic of Ireland) and from The 

National Archives. Its remit is to consider: 

a. whether there are things the four drafting offices might agree to do consistently 
or principles they might all apply when operating in the same areas (e.g. should 
they be aiming to create separate texts, should parallel texts be avoided etc.); 

b. whether there are things the Office of the Parliamentary Counsel do in UK Acts 
that make life more complex for the other drafting offices (and vice versa). 

68. The group meets monthly and intends to submit its recommendations for consideration 

at the next Heads of Drafting Offices meeting in early 2024. 

 

Revisions to the programme 
 

69. Section 2(6) of the Legislation (Wales) Act 2019 permits the Welsh Ministers and 

Counsel General to revise the programme.  

 

70. It is intended that the programme will be revised to include: 

a. a commitment to create a Code of law in relation to planning, and to show that a 

Code of law for the historic environment has been created 

Pack Page 60



b. information about the project to strengthen the publication of subordinate 

legislation, and 

c. a commitment to consult on proposals to improve the form and structure of 

legislation. 

 

71. The revised programme will be laid before the Senedd later this year. 

 

Concluding matters 
 

72. Notable achievements over the last twelve months include the passing of the Historic 

Environment (Wales) Act 2023 in March 2023 (forming the first Code of Welsh law), and 

the good progress made by Welsh Government staff in applying annotated amendments 

to English and Welsh language texts of Welsh law on the legislation.gov.uk site.  Both are 

major steps forward in treating both languages equally and developing Welsh as a 

language of the law.  

 

73. The National Archives remains a vital partner in aiding the delivery of improved 

accessibility of the law – both in terms of how legislation is printed and published, and 

how it is made available in a free to access and use digital form. However, unless and 

until they are able to progress the priorities in the programme to develop the 

functionality on the site to enable Welsh legislation being accessed by subject, there is 

limited scope for the Welsh Government to take this project forward. 

 

74. Overall, we conclude that the programme remains on track and are pleased to report 

both the good progress made and the proposals to expand the programme to reflect 

further work being undertaken.  

Pack Page 61



Annex 

Review of the Legislation (Wales) Act 2019 
 

Summary of the Act 
 

1. The Legislation (Wales) Act 2019 (“the 2019 Act”) was passed by the (then) National 

Assembly for Wales on 16 July 2019 and received Royal Assent on 10 September 2019. 

The 2019 Act makes provision about the interpretation and operation of Welsh 

legislation, and requires the Counsel General and the Welsh Ministers to take steps to 

improve the accessibility of Welsh law:  

 

a. Part 1 imposes duties on the Counsel General to the Welsh Government and the 

Welsh Ministers relating to the accessibility of Welsh law.  

 

b. Part 2 makes general provision about the interpretation and operation of the 

2019 Act itself and of Welsh legislation enacted after Part 2 comes into force.  

 

c. Part 3 gives the Welsh Ministers powers to replace descriptions of dates in Welsh 

legislation and to make subordinate legislation in different forms, and provides 

for the combination of subordinate legislation that is subject to different 

procedures in the (now) Senedd.  

 

d. Part 4 contains general provisions, including consequential amendments to other 

legislation and provision about when and how the 2019 Act would come into 

force.  

 

2. The 2019 Act forms part of the Welsh Government’s wider programme of improving the 

accessibility of Welsh law and clarifying and simplifying the operation of Welsh 

legislation. 

 

Commitment to review the 2019 Act 
 

3. When the Bill8, that would become the 2019 Act, was introduced into the National 

Assembly the Government committed that legislation would be reviewed in 2026 at the 

end of the first Assembly term in which a programme under Part 1 of the 2019 Act 

would have been delivered.  During the scrutiny of the Bill, the responsible Committee 

 
8 The Record of Proceedings and further information on the passage the Bill can be found on the National 
Assembly for Wales’ website at: http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=23311  

Pack Page 62

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2019/4/contents
http://www.senedd.assembly.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=23311


for the Bill – the Constitutional and Legislative Affairs Committee – considered this 

commitment. In the Stage 1 report of that Committee, they recommended9: 

 

Recommendation 6. Subject to the Bill receiving Royal Assent, the Counsel General 

should commit to a review of the legislation at the mid-way point of the first 

Assembly term in which the legislation takes effect, i.e. by the end of 2023. 

 

4. The Counsel General, as the Member in Charge of the Bill, accepted this 

recommendation, together with a related recommendation that annual (rather than 

periodic) reports be made on progress against a programme prepared under Part 1 of 

the Bill.  In the General Principles debate on the Bill held on 2 April 2019, the Counsel 

General explained10 that as part of the annual reporting process “we will also review the 

effectiveness of Part 1 of the Bill at the midway point of the next Assembly term.” 

 

5. The Finance Committee also reported11 on the Bill during Stage 1 of the National 

Assembly’s consideration.  They recommended: 

 

Recommendation 2. The Committee recommends that relevant review activity 

associated with the Bill consider the resourcing and financial implications of 

delivering the Bill’s objectives. 

 

6. This recommendation was also accepted by the Government.   

 

7. On 18 June 2019, following the Stage 2 proceedings on the Bill, the Counsel General laid 

a revised Explanatory Memorandum to the Bill before the National Assembly.  He also 

wrote12 to the Chair of the Constitutional and Legislative Affairs Committee, setting out 

that: 

 

…the mid-term review would primarily do two things: firstly, it would report on the 

progress of implementing the programme to improve the accessibility of Welsh law 

and to consider whether the proposed content of it should be changed; and secondly 

(and more generally) it will provide post-legislative scrutiny of the Bill itself, including 

the Parts 2 and 3. 

 

8. During the Stage 2 proceedings before the Constitutional and Legislative Affairs 

Committee, the Counsel General was invited to write to the Committee with the 

 
9 Available at: cr-ld12462-e.pdf (senedd.wales) 
10 See Record of Proceedings: Plenary 02/04/2019 - Welsh Parliament (assembly.wales) 
11 Available at: Financial implications of the Legislation (Wales) Bill (senedd.wales) 
12 Available at: Letter from the Counsel General and Brexit Minister - 18 June 2019.pdf (senedd.wales) 

Pack Page 63

https://senedd.wales/laid%20documents/cr-ld12462/cr-ld12462-e.pdf
https://record.assembly.wales/Plenary/5573#A50166
https://senedd.wales/laid%20documents/cr-ld12458/cr-ld12458-e.pdf
https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s90238/Letter%20from%20the%20Counsel%20General%20and%20Brexit%20Minister%20-%2018%20June%202019.pdf


Government’s views on how Assembly Members could influence the content of the mid-

term review.  The Counsel General’s letter of 18 June 2019 offered to: 

 

…make my officials available to the Committee … to understand what the Committee 

would consider important, and to gain a fuller appreciation of how current Members 

could envisage a future Assembly engaging in the process of the mid-term review. I 

hope that these conversations could help shape any views this Committee may want 

to pass on to its successor towards the end of this Assembly.   

 

9. The Committee did not subsequently provide any views on this matter either to 

Government officials or in any published report to its successor Committee.  However 

the Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee of the current Senedd reported13 on 

the Welsh Government’s draft budget for 2023-24, and recommended: 

 

Recommendation 4. The Counsel General should, by the end for March, provide an 

analysis of whether the anticipated additional staffing costs to the Welsh 

Government set out in the Explanatory Memorandum to the Legislation (Wales) Bill 

are proving to be accurate.  

 

10. In response14 the Counsel General explained: 

 

The Government has previously committed to set out details of the resourcing and 

financial implications of delivering the first programme aimed at improving 

accessibility of Welsh law, and other costs arising from implementing [the 2019 Act]. 

This commitment was given in response to recommendations made by the Fifth 

Senedd Constitutional and Legislative Affairs Committee and Finance Committee, 

following their Stage 1 scrutiny of the Legislation (Wales) Bill. The Government 

agreed to include these details in the annual report under section 2(7) of the 2019 

Act that would be made in 2023. I will therefore provide this information in the report 

due later this year. 

 

11. This report therefore reviews Parts 1 to 3 of the 2019 Act and considers the resourcing 

implications of the Act. 

 

Implementing the 2019 Act 
 

Commencement 
 

 
13 Available at: LJC Committee: The Welsh Government’s draft budget for 2023-24 (senedd.wales) 
14 Available at: Eich cyf (senedd.wales) 

Pack Page 64

https://senedd.wales/media/0jmoftg2/cr-ld15656-e.pdf
https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s134418/LJC6-08-23%20-%20Paper%2012%20-%20Letter%20from%20the%20Counsel%20General%20and%20Minister%20for%20the%20Constitution%202%20March.pdf


12. The 2019 Act received Royal Assent on 10 September 2019. Section 43 made provision 

about when and how the Act would come into force: 

 

a. Part 1 of the Act came into force the day after the Act receives Royal Assent, 

namely 11 September 2019.  However, section 2 had no immediate effect in 

practice, because the duty to prepare a programme arose for the first time with 

the Senedd term that began after the section came into force (in other words, 

the Sixth Senedd that began after the general election held on 6 May 2021).  

 

b. The provisions of Part 2 of the 2019 Act that apply to the interpretation and 

operation of the 2019 Act itself came into force on 11 September 2019. The 

power in section 5(2) and (3) to amend Schedule 1 also came into force the day 

after Royal Assent, in case the Schedule needed to be amended before it came 

fully into force. This was not ultimately required, although amendments to 

Schedule 1 were made after it was fully in force – see paragraph 20(f) below.  

 

c. An order was made by the Welsh Ministers to bring Part 2 into force in relation 

to other Assembly Acts and in relation to Welsh subordinate instruments. The 

Government’s expectation during the development of the Bill was that the order 

would bring Part 2 fully into force at the start of a calendar year, so that it would 

be possible to tell from the year included in the title of an Act or instrument 

whether Part 2 applies to it or whether the Interpretation Act 1978 applied.  This 

expectation was achieved, with the Legislation (Wales) Act 2019 

(Commencement) Order 2019 bringing the remaining aspects of Part 2 into force 

on 1 January 2020.   

 

d. Parts 3 and 4 also came into force the day after the Act received Royal Assent. 

This meant provisions in Part 3 could be relied upon in statutory instruments that 

the Welsh Ministers made from that date onwards (or that they laid before the 

Senedd in draft on or after that date, in the case of instruments subject to draft 

affirmative procedure). 

 

Powers of the Welsh Ministers 
 

13. The 2019 Act conferred a limited number of powers to make subordinate legislation on 

the Welsh Ministers, some of which of have been exercised (see Table 1). 

 
  

Pack Page 65

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2019/1333/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2019/1333/contents/made


Table 1 – Powers to make subordinate legislation and use 

 

Section of 

2019 Act 

Description of power Use 

Section 6(2) The Welsh Ministers may add, 

remove or amend definitions 

within Schedule 1 to the Bill, as 

necessary. 

Legislation (Wales) Act 2019 

(Amendment of Schedule 1) 

Regulations 2020 

Section 38(1) Enables the Welsh Ministers to 

amend legislation describing a 

date or time so that it states the 

actual date or time. 

First used in the Legislation 

(Wales) Act 2019 

(Commencement) Order 2019 

(but see also paragraph 20(b)) 

Section 42(1) Enables the Welsh Ministers to 

make further provision in 

consequence of, or to give full 

effect to, the Act. 

Not yet used 

Section 44(2) Power to commence the 

statutory interpretation 

provisions, insofar as they apply 

to Welsh subordinate 

instruments and to Assembly 

Acts other than the 2019 Act 

itself, into force on a particular 

date. 

Legislation (Wales) Act 2019 

(Commencement) Order 2019 

 

14. The 2019 Act also contained two provisions about the exercise of powers in other 

legislation: 

 

a. section 39 enables the Welsh Ministers to exercise powers to make regulations, 

rules or orders by making any other of those forms of subordinate legislation.  

 

b. section 40 deals with the combination in a single statutory instrument of 

subordinate legislation made by the Welsh Ministers that would attract different 

Assembly procedures, and ensures that the instrument is subject to the stricter 

of those procedures. 

 

Detail on the subsequent use of these enabling provisions is set out in paragraph 38 

onwards below. 

 

Pack Page 66

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2020/1356/introduction/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2020/1356/introduction/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2020/1356/introduction/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2019/1333/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2019/1333/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2019/1333/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2019/1333/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2019/1333/contents/made


Guidance for implementation 
 

15. At paragraph 205 of the Explanatory Memorandum to the Bill, the Government noted 

some actions that could be taken to support implementation of what would become the 

2019 Act: 

 

a. Preparation and delivery of guidance – the Government set out it would develop 

and publish non-statutory guidance for drafters of subordinate legislation. The 

cost would be incurred by the Government. The intention was that the guidance 

would coincide with the coming into force of the interpretation provisions. 

Preparation costs were to be absorbed within the normal course of business but 

had been estimated at £5,000 (a one-off cost arising in 2019/2020). The guidance 

was to be published online only. 

 

b. Information about forthcoming changes – two potential actions were identified: 

 

i. Notification – it was anticipated that Welsh Government drafters, other 

devolved Welsh authorities that make subordinate legislation, legal 

professionals, the judiciary and Welsh law schools would need to be 

made aware of the changes in relation to statutory interpretation. The 

original intention was to alert relevant organisations and bodies about 

the new Act, potentially using the Cyfraith Cymru/Law Wales website and 

providing information to the guidance for drafters of subordinate 

legislation mentioned above.  

 

ii. Training – bodies such as the Law Society or the Bar Council could choose 

to provide training or other information on the new legislation to their 

members. It was also anticipated that information sessions would be 

provided internally within the Welsh Government.  

 

16. On 27 May 2020 the Government published ‘Parts 2 and 3 of the Legislation (Wales) Act 

2019: Guidance for preparing Welsh legislation’15. This was published later than 

anticipated (partly to take account of changes brought about by the Senedd and 

Elections Act 202016), but an early draft was available for use within Welsh Government 

pending final publication.  No costs, other than opportunity costs associated with the 

time of a member of the Office of the Legislative Counsel in preparing the advice, were 

incurred.  The final guidance is mainly relevant to: 

 
15 Available at: Parts 2 and 3 of the Legislation (Wales) Act 2019: Guidance for preparing Welsh legislation | 

GOV.WALES 
16 Separate guidance on the implications of Part 2 of the Senedd and Elections (Wales) Act 2020 for legislative 
drafting has also been published 

Pack Page 67

https://www.gov.wales/guidance-for-preparing-welsh-legislation
https://www.gov.wales/guidance-for-preparing-welsh-legislation


 

a. lawyers and officials within Welsh Government who draft Bills and statutory 

instruments for the Welsh Ministers;  

 

b. officials within Welsh Government who prepare subordinate legislation; 

 

c. lawyers and other officials who draft subordinate legislation for devolved Welsh 

authorities (such as byelaws and schemes made by county and county borough 

councils).  

 

17. No feedback has been received on the guidance since its publication necessitating its 

update, and it remains available as a helpful guide.   

 

18. Two in-person training sessions were held in October and November 2019 on, primarily, 

Parts 2 and 3 of the Act for drafting lawyers within Welsh Government.  Approximately 

100 lawyers attended over the two events.  More recently a “top up session” was held in 

July 2023, this time via MS Teams.  This session was attended by approximately 70 

members of staff and is also available to be viewed as part of an ongoing bank of 

resources for lawyers within the Government. No costs, other than opportunity costs 

associated with preparation and attendance, have been incurred. 

 

19. Information about the 2019 Act was published on the Law Wales/Cyfraith Cymru 

website, with the most recent iteration of that information being published in August 

2023.  A new element of the site is currently being developed – information on a single 

page about each Act of the Senedd, together with links to any subordinate legislation 

made under it.  The latest version of the information for the 2019 Act has been included 

as part of that work. This report will be added to that page after it has been laid before 

the Senedd. 

 

Amendments to the 2019 Act 
 

20. The 2019 Act has been amended several times since it was enacted. The changes have 

been numerous in part because of the United Kingdom’s withdrawal from the European 

Union and we do not anticipate that the Act will be changed as frequently in future. 

Changes have been made as follows: 

 

a. When Part 2 of the 2019 Act was commenced via the Legislation (Wales) Act 

2019 (Commencement) Order 2019, the Welsh Ministers used the power in 

section 38(1) of the 2019 Act. The Order therefore amended provisions in the 

2019 Act that refer to the day on which Part 2 comes into force, so that they 

refer instead to 1 January 2020. 

Pack Page 68

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2019/1333/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2019/1333/contents/made


 

b. Part 2 of the Senedd and Elections (Wales) Act 2020 changed the name of the 

National Assembly for Wales to Senedd Cymru with effect from 6 May 2020. 

Schedule 1 to that Act amended the 2019 Act to replace references to the 

National Assembly for Wales and Assembly Acts with references to Senedd 

Cymru and Acts of Senedd Cymru, and to insert definitions into Schedule 1 to the 

2019 Act relating to Senedd Cymru and Acts of Senedd Cymru. 

 

c. The European Union (Withdrawal Agreement) Act 2020 implemented the 

Withdrawal Agreement, as agreed between the United Kingdom and the 

European Union. The Act was required to implement the Withdrawal Agreement 

for it to have domestic legal effect and to enable the UK Government to ratify 

the Withdrawal Agreement.  Consequently, that Act amended the 2019 Act to 

insert, substitute and amend entries relating to the Withdrawal Agreement and, 

in particular, the implementation period. 

 

d. The Direct Payments to Farmers (Legislative Continuity) Act 2020 and the Direct 

Payments to Farmers (Legislative Continuity) Act 2020 (Consequential 

Amendments) Regulations 2020 made consequential amendments to the 2019 

Act (and other legislation relating to the interpretation of Welsh law and other 

law), to ensure that EU legislation incorporated into domestic law under the 

Direct Payments to Farmers (Legislative Continuity) Act 2020 is treated in the 

same way as EU legislation incorporated into domestic law under the European 

Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018. 

 

e. The Fisheries Act 2020, amongst other matters, extended the legislative 

competence of the Senedd Cymru so as to enable the Senedd to make primary 

legislation on fishing, fisheries and fish health matters in the Welsh zone. 

Consequently, section 46 of the Fisheries Act 2020 amended the 2019 Act to 

insert a definition of “Welsh zone” into Schedule 1 and adjust references in Parts 

1 to 3 of the 2019 Act to legislation relating to Wales in order to reflect the new 

description of the “Welsh zone”.  

 

f. The Welsh Ministers made the Legislation (Wales) Act 2019 (Amendment of 

Schedule 1) Regulations 2020 that came into force on 27 November 2020. These 

Regulations amended Schedule 1 to the 2019 Act, to insert provisions about the 

meaning of four additional expressions17 and to amend the definition of the 

“standard scale” of fines for summary offences because of the Sentencing Code 

(the restatement of sentencing legislation set out in the Sentencing Act 2020). 

 
17 “Equality and Human Rights Commission”; “National Trust”; “Public Accounts Committee”; and “Sentencing 
Code” 

Pack Page 69

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2020/1/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2020/1/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2020/2/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/463/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/463/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/463/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2020/22/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2020/1356/introduction/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2020/1356/introduction/made


 

g. The European Union Withdrawal (Consequential Modifications) (EU Exit) 

Regulations 2020 amended the 2019 Act (and related interpretation legislation) 

to insert provisions about the effect of references to EU instruments that form 

part of relevant separation agreement law (as defined in the European Union 

(Withdrawal) Act 2018) on or after the implementation period completion day18. 

 

21. Further changes will be made to the 2019 Act by the Retained EU Law (Revocation and 

Reform) Act 2023. This Act will, when fully in force, enable the amendment of retained 

EU law (known as “REUL”) and remove the special features it has in the UK legal system. 

It makes amendments to the 2019 Act to replace references to “retained EU law” (and 

related terms) with “assimilated law” (and related terms). The amendments include 

changes to Schedule 1 to the 2019 Act, which will supersede all of the amendments 

made to the 2019 Act by the Direct Payments to Farmers (Legislative Continuity) Act 

2020. 

 

Part 1 of the 2019 Act 
 

22. To inform the process of making Welsh law more accessible, section 1(1) requires the 

Counsel General (as the Law Officer for Wales), to keep the accessibility of Welsh law 

under review. Section 2 requires the Welsh Ministers and the Counsel General to 

develop a programme of action designed to improve the accessibility of Welsh law for 

each Senedd term beginning with the term following the general election on 6 May 

2021.  Although the specific content of a programme will be a matter for the Welsh 

Ministers and the Counsel General, section 2(3) requires each programme to make 

provision for measures that are intended to consolidate and codify Welsh law, maintain 

codified law, promote awareness and understanding of Welsh law, and to facilitate use 

of the Welsh language. 

 

23. The first programme, The Future of Welsh Law: accessibility programme 2021 to 2026, 

was developed following the general election for the Sixth Senedd and agreed by the 

Welsh Ministers and Counsel General before being laid before the Senedd on 21 

September 2021. 

 

24. Section 2(7) of the 2019 Act requires an annual report to be made on progress against 

the programme.  The first annual report was laid before the Senedd on 7 November 

2022. This report forms part of the second annual report now being laid before the 

 
18 The ending of the 11-month period from 31 January 2020 during which the UK continued to be subject to EU 
rules. (This period was known in the Withdrawal Agreement between the UK and the EU as the 'transition 
period'.) 

Pack Page 70

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/1447/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/1447/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2023/28/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2023/28/contents/enacted
https://www.gov.wales/the-future-of-welsh-law-accessibility-programme-2021-to-2026


Senedd.  Both annual reports summarise the work that has been achieved against each 

programme (and which is not repeated here). 

 

25. Details regarding the resourcing implications of this first programme are set out later in 

this report. 

 

26. The main purpose of Part 1 was to entrench a commitment to making Welsh law more 

accessible. This was intended to take effect both as an outward-facing promise to make 

the rights and obligations of the people of Wales clearer, and as a means of ensuring 

that improving the situation remains an ongoing priority within the Welsh Government. 

To date the Part has in our view had the desired effect. Codification in particular has 

received considerable support from stakeholders and awareness, on the part of 

ministers and officials, of the practical difficulties caused by inaccessible legislation. 

 

27. The coronavirus pandemic put this commitment to the test in a way that had never been 

expected. On the one hand, the pandemic led to some of the limited resources allocated 

to projects designed to make the law more accessible being redeployed, however on the 

other the Government’s legal response – with communicating requirements clearly to 

the Welsh public at its heart – was an example of good practice and how things could be 

improved in relation to all legislation in future. The Government recognised from an 

early stage that it needed to do more to make sure the law itself was easily available and 

to explain the effect of the law. Considerable effort was given, as a result, to publishing 

the law quickly – in up-to-date form in both languages, to guidance and to simple 

messaging in “FAQ” format. The end result, according to a King’s College study, was that 

the restrictions were significantly better understood in Wales than in England. 

 

Part 2 of the 2019 Act 
 

28. Part 2 of the 2019 Act makes provision about the interpretation and operation of 

legislation made by the Senedd or under powers it has conferred, and other subordinate 

legislation made by the Welsh Ministers and other devolved Welsh authorities.  

 

29. The position before Part 2 came into force was that the Interpretation Act 1978 (“the 

1978 Act”) governed the interpretation and operation of legislation of these types. The 

1978 Act continues to apply to legislation that was made before 1 January 2020 (when 

Part 2 came fully into force)19. Part 2 applies only to legislation made after that date 

(and to the 2019 Act itself).  

 
19 The 1978 Act also continues to apply to some very limited categories of instrument that are made by the 

Welsh Ministers and other devolved Welsh authorities under certain powers after 1 January 2020, if those 

instruments also contain provisions that are made by bodies that are not devolved Welsh authorities or 

provisions that apply otherwise than in relation to Wales.  

Pack Page 71



 

30. Part 2 has therefore applied to the 12 Acts of the Senedd enacted since 1 January 2020, 

and to 1,176 Statutory Instruments made by the Welsh Ministers, together with 

approximately 270 items of subordinate legislation made during this period by the 

Welsh Ministers and further legislation made other bodies (details of which are not held 

by the Government)20. 

 

31. Most of the provisions in Part 2 were intended to have the same effect as provisions in 

the 1978 Act, even if they were expressed in different terms. However, there were some 

differences that were identified and described in the Explanatory Notes to the 2019 Act.  

 

32. One of the main differences between the two Acts is that the 2019 Act does not contain 

a provision corresponding to section 11 of the 1978 Act. That section provides that 

expressions used in subordinate legislation have the meaning which they bear in the Act 

or Measure (or the retained direct EU legislation) under which the subordinate 

legislation is made. As such drafters of Welsh subordinate instruments need to consider 

how best to ensure the words used in the instrument have the same meaning as in the 

primary legislation (where that is the intention).  Writing Laws for Wales (the 

Government’s guidance on drafting legislation) and the guidance issued on Part 2 of the 

2019 Act cover this in more detail. Evidence from statutory instruments made since the 

passing of the 2019 Act show a range of approaches are being used, depending on the 

effect required and other factors, for example whether a specific meaning is derived 

from caselaw. Anecdotal discussions with drafting lawyers within the Government has 

shown the guidance on this matter and the context of the instrument being prepared all 

influence the approach that is adopted, and no single approach is being favoured. 

 

33. Section 35 of the 2019 Act makes general provision about the effects of repealing and 

re-enacting existing legislation. It is based on very similar provisions in section 17(2) the 

1978 Act, but was made wider in some respects to facilitate Senedd consolidation Acts 

(in particular, section 35 is not limited to cases where the repeal and re-enactment are 

both in the same Act, and it enables references to a repealed enactment to be read as 

“including” its restatement for Wales where that is appropriate). Nevertheless, Part 1 of 

Schedule 14 to the Historic Environment (Wales) Act 2023 made a number of additional 

transitional provisions dealing with references to that Act and the Acts that it replaces. 

Consideration is being given to whether it would be helpful to have general provisions of 

that kind, so that they do not need to be made separately in each Senedd Act that 

restates existing legislation.  

 

 
20 For the period up to and including 30 September 2023 

Pack Page 72

https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-11/writing-laws-for-wales-guidance-on-drafting-legislation.pdf


34. Because section 35 provides that where a Senedd Act restates an earlier Act, 

subordinate legislation made under the earlier Act continues to have effect as if made 

under the new one.  This may mean that subordinate legislation to which the 1978 Act 

applied now has to be treated as being subject to the 2019 Act.  That will generally make 

no difference, given the close similarity between the two Acts and the fact that nearly all 

of their interpretation provisions are subject to any contrary intention in the legislation 

in question. However, in connection with the Government’s ongoing work on 

consolidation of the law, consideration is being given to whether there might be any 

cases in which it could have unwanted effects. 

 

35. As noted earlier in this report, Schedule 1 to the 2019 Act has been amended on several 

occasions. Only one of these has been through the exercise of the powers at section 6(2) 

of the 2019 Act. The Government intends to periodically consider further amendments 

to Schedule 1, to include new definitions of terms or to update terms, as necessary. 

 

Part 3 of the 2019 Act 
 

36. As noted earlier, Part 3 gives the Welsh Ministers powers to replace descriptions of 

dates in Welsh legislation (section 38); to make subordinate legislation in different forms 

(section 39); and provides for the combination of subordinate legislation that is subject 

to different procedures in the Senedd (section 40).  

 

37. The first use of the enabling power in section 38 was in the commencement order made 

under the 2019 Act, which amended the Act itself.  The power has subsequently been 

used in another commencement order: the Renting Homes (Wales) Act 2016 

(Commencement No. 2 and Consequential Amendments) Order 2022.  That order 

brought the Renting Homes (Wales) Act 2016 into force, to the extent that it was not 

already, on 1 December 2022.  In addition, the order amended 12 statutory instruments 

to replace references to the day on which section 239 of the Act comes into force with a 

reference to 1 December 2022. This is precisely the type of change envisaged when the 

enabling power was created, it ensures that readers of those 12 statutory instruments 

could see the relevant date without having to undertake further research. 

 

38. Section 39 has been used to make regulations instead of orders and rules – see for 

example, the Firefighters’ Pension Schemes and Compensation Scheme (Wales) 

(Amendment) Regulations 2020 and the Local Elections (Miscellaneous and 

Consequential Amendments) (Wales) Regulations 2022.  The “Firefighter Pension 

Scheme” regulations are an example of why the enabling power was created – the 

approximately 20 enabling powers required to make those regulations are set out in 

several Acts, and in one case (section 34(4) of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004) 

were originally envisaged to be exercised by order.  Without section 39 of the 2019 Act, 

Pack Page 73

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2022/906/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2022/906/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2020/1511/introduction/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2020/1511/introduction/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2022/263/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2022/263/contents/made


two separate instruments would have to have been made – one set of regulations and 

separately the order.  Section 39 permitted a combined instrument to be made, making 

the law more accessible for the reader. 

 

39. Section 39 has also been used to make an order, rather than regulations – see the 

Education Workforce Council (Additional Categories of Registration) (Wales) Order 2023.  

This Order also relied upon the powers in section 40 of the 2019 Act, which permits 

subordinate legislation subject to different Senedd procedures to be combined into one 

instrument. 

 

40. Section 40 has been used on at least 22 occasions since the power came into force 

(including for the Order mentioned immediately above).  The purpose of this section is 

to facilitate the combination in a single statutory instrument of provisions that are 

subject to different procedures, whether they are made under powers in the same Act 

or different Acts, and to avoid any procedural difficulties that would be caused by 

combining provisions in this way. It ensures that the instrument is subject to the most 

stringent of the procedures that would otherwise apply.  Six instruments were 

subsequently made under the made affirmative procedure, and 16 under the draft 

affirmative procedure. 

 

41. Reference to section 40 has generally been included as a footnote from the introductory 

text of the Statutory Instrument, but in a few cases this was not in the Statutory 

Instrument but instead drawn to the attention of the Legislation, Justice and 

Constitution Committee in the Explanatory Memoranda that accompanies Statutory 

Instruments on laying. In one case, both the instrument and the Explanatory 

Memorandum included a reference to section 40. The Committee has also identified at 

least one occurrence where section 40 was relied upon, but this was not referenced in 

either the instrument or the Explanatory Memorandum. Drafting lawyers have been 

reminded of the guidance on citing section 4021. 

 

42. Anecdotal discussions with drafting lawyers within the Government has shown that 

sections 39 and 40 have generally been used to provide for a more logical and coherent 

position for the users of the legislation or because it has been administratively 

convenient to make one instrument rather than multiple instruments.  

 

Resourcing 
 

Developing, reporting on and revising the programme under Part 1 of the 2019 Act 
 

 
21 Welsh Government (2020) ‘Parts 2 and 3 of the Legislation (Wales) Act 2019: Guidance for preparing Welsh 
legislation’ 

Pack Page 74

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2023/551/contents/made


43. Preparation of the programme was estimated in 2019, to be an opportunity cost of 

approximately £12,000 (based on 8 weeks full time activity for one Grade 7/Executive 

Band 2 official)22.   

 

44. The first programme was developed during a period of intense activity for the Legislative 

Codes Office relating predominantly to the preparation, registration and publication of 

legislation relating to the pandemic.  Work on the programme was undertaken alongside 

that other activity, and it is not possible to determine whether it equated to the original 

estimate of time. 

 

45. Alongside the annual reports, reporting on the programme was also anticipated to 

happen as an occasional event – for example through the Counsel General answering 

questions, making statements or as part of evidence sessions to Committees.  The costs 

associated with this were not quantifiable but would be opportunity costs.  Activity of 

this type has occurred since the first programme was prepared.  Information for this is 

generally prepared by the Head of the Legislative Codes Office as part of other duties. 

 

46. The opportunity cost of preparing the annual report was estimated, in 2019, to be 

approximately £3,000 (representing two weeks of full-time activity by one Executive 

Band 2 grade) 23.   Two annual reports have been prepared to date.  In both cases they 

have been led by one Management Band 1 grade member of the Legislative Codes 

Office, as part of other duties, collating contributions from across the organisation on 

progress under each project.  Actual timings for this work have not been collated, but it 

is considered the original estimate was less than the actual time taken. 

 

47. The opportunity cost of revising the programme was estimated, in 2019, to be 

approximately two-thirds of the cost of preparing the main programme24.  To date the 

programme has not been revised, so no costs of this kind have been incurred. 

 

Delivering the programme required under Part 1 of the 2019 Act 
 

48. During the passage of the Bill, including in the supporting information such as the 

Explanatory Memorandum, it was emphasised that the actual cost of each individual 

programme would be dependent upon the scale of the activity included in it and the 

resource allocated to that activity.  Best estimates of an indicative programme were set 

out in the Explanatory Memorandum25, and some costs relating to the anticipated 

additional staffing that could be required to increase drafting and translation capacity, 

 
22 See paragraph 139 and Table 4 of the Explanatory Memorandum to the Legislation (Wales) Bill (laid 18 June 
2019) 
23 See paragraph 140 of the Explanatory Memorandum to the Legislation (Wales) Bill (laid 18 June 2019) 
24 See paragraph 141 of the Explanatory Memorandum to the Legislation (Wales) Bill (laid 18 June 2019) 
25 See paragraphs 144 to 147 

Pack Page 75



as well as other staff to work on the non-legislative projects were included (reproduced 

at Table 2). 

 
Table 2 – Estimated annual cost of delivering a programme of  

accessibility set out in Explanatory Memorandum to the Bill in 2019 

 

Estimated additional annual cost of delivering a programme of accessibility 

including 4 to 5 consolidation bills over 5 years 

Cost of drafting resource equivalent to four Legislative Counsel £376,900 

Cost of translation resource equivalent to two Legislative 

Translators 

£93,000 

Cost of one Management Band 2 and two Management Band 3 

staff delivering rolling programme of accessibility projects 

£118,500 

TOTAL ESTIMATED COSTS £588,400 

 

49. In relation to the costs for each consolidation Bill, the Explanatory Memorandum to the 

Bill made clear26: 

 

…the figures quoted [for each consolidation Bill] are little more than indicative 

estimates, and should not considered definitive or representative of any or all 

consolidation projects. This is because the Welsh Government has not yet undertaken 

consolidation exercises of the type envisaged; secondly, each project will have 

different demands and requirements based on the existing law being consolidated 

and codified. 

 

50. The only costs that could be quantified at that time were the anticipated additional 

drafting and translation costs.   

 

51. Experience gained from producing the Historic Environment (Wales) Act 2023 and 

preparing two other Bills relating to the accessibility of law programme, has shown that 

there is very little difference in the grade or type of staff involved between a 

consolidation Bill and a law reform Bill.  Policy professionals, subject lawyers, legislative 

and general translators and drafting counsel are all required. It represents a significant 

commitment of time and expertise from all involved and is a cross-Government activity.  

This was reflected in the Counsel General’s evidence paper27 to the Legislation, Justice 

and Constitution Committee for his attendance on 16 January 2023, where he explained: 

 

 
26 Paragraph 146 
27 Available at: LJC6-02-23 - Paper 2 - Paper from the Counsel General and Minister for the Constitution 21 
Decemb.pdf (senedd.wales) 

Pack Page 76

https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s132464/LJC6-02-23%20-%20Paper%202%20-%20Paper%20from%20the%20Counsel%20General%20and%20Minister%20for%20the%20Constitution%2021%20Decemb.pdf
https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s132464/LJC6-02-23%20-%20Paper%202%20-%20Paper%20from%20the%20Counsel%20General%20and%20Minister%20for%20the%20Constitution%2021%20Decemb.pdf


…our work to deliver the legislative programme is an element of the work of the 

Government as a whole and this is the same for the accessibility of law programme – 

the total overall costs, including that of the Bill work, are met from across a number 

of portfolios as part of the wider legislative activity of the organisation.  

 

52. Whilst it is not possible to quantify the exact costs associated with the policy 

professionals, subject lawyers, general translators and terminology professionals 

involved, most of whom have been working on other matters alongside their work on 

the individual consolidation projects, it is possible to set out the additional drafting and 

translation resource that has deployed since October 2021 when the first programme 

began (in Table 3 below): 

 
Table 3 – Actual numbers of Legislative Counsel and Legislative  

Translators working on consolidation projects 

 

 Legislative Counsel Legislative Translators 

Historic Environment 

(Wales) Bill 

1 x Assistant Legislative 

Counsel  

1 x Legislative Counsel 

1 x Senior Legislative 

Counsel  
See Notes A and D 

2 x Senior Legislative 

Translators 

 

 

 
See Note E 

Legislation (Repeals) 

(Wales) Bill28 

3 x Assistant Legislative 

Counsel 

1 x Senior Legislative 

Counsel 
See Notes B and D 

2 x Senior Legislative 

Translators 

 

 
See Note F 

Planning (Wales) Bill29 2 x Assistant Legislative 

Counsel 

1 x Legislative Counsel 

1 x Senior Legislative 

Counsel 
See Notes C and D 

2 x Senior Legislative 

Translators 

 

 

 
See Note F 

Notes: 

(a) The ALC allocated to this project worked on one aspect of the Bill alongside other projects; the SLC was 

promoted to this grade (from LC) during this project, and joined the project part of the way through. See also Note 

(c) 

(b) All four legislative drafters have worked on this project in occasional periods of quieter time on their other 

projects, rather than all working on this for a dedicated period of time.  Work on this project continues and the 

drafting resource may change in the future 

 
28 Indicative short-title being used to refer to a Bill that will repeal obsolete and spent provisions in relation to 
Wales 
29 Indicative short-title being used to refer to the consolidation of planning law in Wales 

Pack Page 77



 Legislative Counsel Legislative Translators 
(c) Work on the planning project has been undertaken by some of the same legislative Counsel who worked on 

the Historic Environment project, and during overlapping time periods.  Work on the planning project continues 

and the drafting resource may change in the future. The work of the LC on this project has taken place during gaps 

in other projects 

(d) Legislative equivalence has been undertaken by several members of the Office of the Legislative Counsel on all 

three Bills, it is not possible to quantify the numbers or grades (or percentage of time) taken to do this 

(e) One senior legislative translator to produce the initial translation and one to edit. Both also contributed to the 

legislative equivalence process. In addition to this, several other members of the Legislative Translation Unit were 

brought in at key points of the project  

(f) One senior legislative translator to produce the initial translation and one to edit. Both will also contribute to 

the legislative equivalence process. Work on this project continues and the translation resource may change in the 

future 

 

Projects to improve subordinate legislation 
 

53. It is not possible to quantify the exact costs associated with the policy, subject lawyers 

and translation staff involved in the preparation of the subordinate legislation projects 

set out in the programme.  Most of these staff have been or are working on other 

matters alongside this work, which is being undertaken as part of their ongoing duties 

and responsibilities. 

 

Non-legislative projects within the programme 
 

54. The Explanatory Memorandum to the Bill set out30 that: 

 

Activities within a programme which do not involve consolidation or codification are 

likely to include those undertaken to improve the publication and explanation of 

Welsh law. For example, the further development of the Cyfraith Cymru/Law Wales 

website, further involvement in the publication of the law and the investigation and 

utilisation of emerging technologies relevant to these tasks. Part of the focus would 

be on issues relating to the Welsh language where, as noted by the Law Commission, 

there are significant failings in the current systems. These activities would be 

undertaken in the main by a team of Welsh Government 3 administrative staff at 

management band 2 and 3 working full time. The estimated cost of this is £118,500 

per year. The combined additional costs (to Welsh Government) of delivering an 

example programme are set out in Table 5 below. 

 

(see also line 3 of Table 2 above) 

 

55. The Legislative Codes Office was formed at the end of 2019 following the enactment of 

the 2019 Act.  The purpose of the team is twofold: 

 
30 Paragraph 147 

Pack Page 78



 

a. to oversee and, in some cases, lead on key projects within the Government’s 
accessibility programme. This includes providing Bill management and 
governance resource to support consolidation and codification of the law; and 
 

b. to ensure subordinate legislation made by or on behalf of the Welsh Ministers is 
correctly made, registered and published. 

 

56. Existing resources were utilised: 

 

a. one Grade 7 and one Higher Executive Officer, who had been working on the Bill, 

Cyfraith Cymru/Law Wales and other projects relating to the accessibility of the 

law; 

 

b. two Executive Officers, who had been involved in making and registering 

subordinate legislation. 

 

57. To this, a further HEO and two EO staff were recruited (the resources identified in the 

Explanatory Memorandum to the Bill).  One of the original Executive Officer posts 

became vacant through this recruitment exercise and was subsequently removed from 

the structure. 

 

58. From early 2020 to late 2022 both the pandemic and preparations regarding EU exit 

significantly increased the number of statutory instruments (in particular) that were 

being made by the Welsh Ministers.  This had an impact on the work of the Legislative 

Codes Office, not only in processing these instruments but also because the team were 

involved, in some cases, in the preparation, publication and explanation of the 

subordinate legislation itself.  An additional Senior Executive Officer and Higher 

Executive Officer were bought in to supplement the team. 

 

59. From September 2021 to August 2022 the team was joined by a “Fast Stream” civil 

servant who worked on, amongst other matters, the technological developments project 

that was reported upon in the annual report laid before the Senedd in 2022. 

 

60. The current posts within the team dedicated to legislation management and accessibility 

of the law are: 

• one Grade 7 

• one Senior Executive Officer 

• three Higher Executive Officers 

• three Executive Officers. 
 

Pack Page 79



Note: some are not full-time posts and some post holders also work on matters other 

than legislation management and accessibility of the law, and at the time of this report 

the team is carrying one vacancy. 

 

61. The projects within the current programme that fall to the Legislative Codes Office 

include: 

 

a. work on the consolidation Bills, which at the present time includes the 

Legislation (Repeals) (Wales) Bill, the Planning (Wales) Bill and identifying 

potential further consolidation and codification projects; 

 

b. the annotation of Welsh law published on the legislation.gov.uk.  As noted in the 

Counsel General’s evidence paper31 to the Legislation, Justice and Constitution 

Committee earlier this year: 

 

There are three Executive Officer grade staff and one Higher Executive Officer 

staff trained to work on annotation, and they perform this work alongside 

other duties, primarily work associated with making, registering and 

publishing subordinate legislation. 

 

c. the maintenance and development of the Cyfraith Cymru/Law Wales website; 

 

d. the wider organisation and publication of the law projects, which include 

classification of legislation. 

 

62. Alongside this the Office also acts as the main liaison point for the Government with the 

Law Commission. 

 

Additional costs not part of the formal programme 
 

63. Although not part of the formal programme to improve the accessibility of Welsh law, 

the Counsel General updated32 the Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee 

about work being undertaken by Bangor University: 

 

…an indicative sum of £350,000 [has been allocated] in the Draft Budget for 2023- 24 

to Canolfan Bedwyr of Bangor University for language technology work, which 

includes machine translation. Part of this funding will go towards continuing to 

 
31 Available at: LJC6-02-23 - Paper 2 - Paper from the Counsel General and Minister for the Constitution 21 
Decemb.pdf (senedd.wales) 
32 See paragraph 4.3 of LJC6-02-23 - Paper 2 - Paper from the Counsel General and Minister for the 
Constitution 21 Decemb.pdf (senedd.wales) 

Pack Page 80

https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s132464/LJC6-02-23%20-%20Paper%202%20-%20Paper%20from%20the%20Counsel%20General%20and%20Minister%20for%20the%20Constitution%2021%20Decemb.pdf
https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s132464/LJC6-02-23%20-%20Paper%202%20-%20Paper%20from%20the%20Counsel%20General%20and%20Minister%20for%20the%20Constitution%2021%20Decemb.pdf
https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s132464/LJC6-02-23%20-%20Paper%202%20-%20Paper%20from%20the%20Counsel%20General%20and%20Minister%20for%20the%20Constitution%2021%20Decemb.pdf
https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s132464/LJC6-02-23%20-%20Paper%202%20-%20Paper%20from%20the%20Counsel%20General%20and%20Minister%20for%20the%20Constitution%2021%20Decemb.pdf


gather training data to develop domain-specific machine translation for the justice 

domain which we started in the 2022-23 financial year.  

 

 

 

 

 

Pack Page 81



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 82

Agenda Item 9 By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Rebecca Evans AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Cyllid a Llywodraeth Leol  
Minister for Finance and Local Government 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

                Correspondence.Rebecca.Evans@gov.wales 
Gohebiaeth.Rebecca.Evans@llyw.cymru 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

 
 
Eich cyf/Your ref  
Ein cyf/Our ref:  RE/368/2023 
 
 
Mark Isherwood MS 
Chair 
Public Accounts and Public Administration Committee 
Senedd Cymru 
Cardiff Bay 
Cardiff 
CF99 1SN 
SeneddPAPA@senedd.wales  

01 November 2023 
 
 

 
Dear Mark, 
 
Thank you for your letter on behalf of the committee in relation to the Legislative Consent 
Memorandum (LCM) on the Economic Activity of Public Bodies (Overseas Matters) Bill. I set 
out my response to your questions below: 
 
With regards to your first point, it is the view of the Welsh Government that consent is not 
required for Clauses 12 and 13. This is because both clauses apply to local government 
workers pensions which is reserved under paragraph 134 of Schedule 7A to the Government 
of Wales Act 2006 and the provisions do not have regard to devolved matters.  There are a 
limited number of occupational pensions which fall within the exception to the reservation in 
paragraph 134 (e.g., pensions for members of local authorities) however these are not 
relevant to clauses 12 or 13. Further, clause 13(3) amends an instrument which only applies 
in relation to Northern Ireland, which would be outside of the Senedd’s competence.  

 
In answer to your second point, Clause 15(3)(a) provides the Secretary of State with a 
regulation making power to be able to disapply s.17(5)(f) of the Local Government Act 1988 
(the 1988 Act). Clause 115(2) of the Procurement Act provides a power for Welsh Ministers 
(or a Minister of the Crown) to disapply the duty under section 17(1) of the 1988 Act so far as 
it relates to a relevant authority. Such regulations can include disapplying the duty in s.17(1) 
of the 1988 Act as it relates to “all non-commercial matters (see section 17(5) of the 1988 
Act) or those that are specified” (clause 115(3)(d) applies). The Senedd has legislative 
competence in relation to any provision of the Procurement Act which confers functions on 
contracting authorities which are devolved Welsh authorities or which confers a power to 
make regulations or issue guidance in relation to contracting authorities which are devolved 
Welsh authorities. Therefore, clause 15(3)(a) of the Bill arguably modifies the ability of the 
Welsh Ministers to exercise the power in clause 115(2) of the Procurement Act. However, the 

Pack Page 98

mailto:Correspondence.Rebecca.Evans@gov.wales
mailto:Gohebiaeth.Rebecca.Evans@llyw.cymru
mailto:SeneddPAPA@senedd.wales


modified power will continue to allow Welsh Ministers to make regulations to disapply 
provisions of section 17(1) of the 1988 Act for relevant Welsh contracting authorities as they 
see fit.  
 
I hope these clarifications are satisfactory. 
 
Yours sincerely, 

 
 
Rebecca Evans AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Cyllid a Llywodraeth Leol  
Minister for Finance and Local Government 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pack Page 99



Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg. 
We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English. 

 

 

 

 

 

16 October 2023 

Dear Minister, 

Legislative Consent Memorandum on the Economic Activity of Public Bodies (Overseas Matters) Bill 

This Legislative Consent Memorandum (LCM) was considered by the Committee on 12 October 2023. 

Following this consideration, please could you provide clarity on the following points: 

 We agree with the Welsh Government’s assessment that clauses 1 to 11, 14, 15 and 16 of 
the Bill require Senedd consent. However, the LCM does not indicate whether the Welsh 
Government believes consent is required for clauses 12 and 13. Please can you confirm 
your view on this and your reasons for your view? 

 The Committee would appreciate further clarity about the interaction between clause 15 of 
the Bill and section 115 of the Procurement Bill. We note that the LCM indicates the Welsh 
Government’s view that the clause modifies the ability of the Welsh Ministers to exercise 
the power in section 115 of the aforementioned Bill. Can you confirm your reasoning 
around this? 

The Committee is due to report on the LCM by 24 November 2023. As such, we would appreciate if 
you could respond to this letter by 3 November 2023.  

 

 

 

Y Pwyllgor Cyfrifon Cyhoeddus a 
Gweinyddiaeth Gyhoeddus  
— 
Public Accounts and Public 
Administration Committee 

Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1SN 

SeneddCCGG@Senedd.cymru 
senedd.cymru/SeneddCCGG 

0300 200 6565 

— 
Welsh Parliament 

Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN 
SeneddPAPA@senedd.wales 

senedd.wales/SeneddPAPA 
0300 200 6565 

Rebecca Evans MS  
Minister for Finance and Local Government 
 

Pack Page 100



 

 
 
 

Regards, 

 

Mark Isherwood MS 
Chair of the Public Accounts and Public Administration Committee 

 

Pack Page 101


	Agenda
	2 Instruments that raise no reporting issues under Standing Order 21.2 or 21.3
	3.1 SL(6)393 - The Forestry (Felling of Trees) (Amendment) (Wales) Regulations 2023
	3.2 SL(6)396 - The Vehicle Emissions Trading Schemes Order 2023
	3.3 SL(6)397 - The Building Safety (Description of Higher-Risk Building) (Design and Construction Phase) (Wales) Regulations 2023
	4.1 SL(6)388 - The National Health Service (Ophthalmic Services) (Wales) Regulations 2023
	LJC(6)-30-23 - Paper 6 - Welsh Government response

	4.2 SL(6)392 - The Water Resources (Control of Agricultural Pollution) (Wales) (Amendment) (No. 2) Regulations 2023
	LJC(6)-30-23 - Paper 8 - Welsh Government response

	5.1 Written Statement and correspondence from the Minister for Rural Affairs and North Wales, and Trefnydd: The Plant Protection Products (Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations 2023
	LJC(6)-30-23 - Paper 10 - Letter from the Minister for Rural Affairs and North Wales, and Trefnydd, 24 October 2023

	5.2 Correspondence from the Counsel General and Minister for the Constitution: Postponement of the Inter-Ministerial Group for Elections and Registration
	5.3 Written Statement by the Minister for Finance and Local Government: The Public Procurement (Agreement on Government Procurement) (Thresholds) (Amendment) Regulations 2023
	5.4 Written Statement and correspondence from the Minister for Rural Affairs and North Wales, and Trefnydd: The Official Controls (Plant Health) (Prior Notification) and Phytosanitary Conditions (Amendment) Regulations 2023
	LJC(6)-30-23 - Paper 14 - Letter from the Minister for Rural Affairs and North Wales, and Trefnydd, 30 October 2023

	6.1 Correspondence with the First Minister of Wales: the Protocol amending the International Convention on the Conservation of Atlantic Tunas (the Palma Protocol)
	LJC(6)-30-23 - Paper 16 - Letter to the First Minister of Wales, 29 September 2023

	6.2 Correspondence from the Minister for Climate Change: Residential lettings practices
	6.3 Written Statement by the Counsel General and Minister for the Constitution: The progress of the Independent Commission on the Constitutional Future of Wales
	6.4 Correspondence from the Counsel General and Minister for the Constitution: The future of Welsh law: A programme for 2021 to 2026 - Annual Report 2022-23
	20231101 CG to LJC re Future of Welsh law letter e.pdf
	Future of Welsh law report e.pdf

	9 Legislative Consent Memorandum on the Economic Activity of Public Bodies (Overseas Matters) Bill
	LJC(6)-30-23 - Paper 22 - Letter from the Minister for Finance and Local Government to the Chair of the Public Accounts and Public Administration Committee, 1 November 2023
	LJC(6)-30-23 - Paper 23 - Letter to the Minister for Finance and Local Government from the Chair of the Public Accounts and Public Administration Committee, 16 October 2023


